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About RREEF China Commercial Trust
EEHTEEERHEREGEEZEMN

RREEF China Commercial Trust (“RREEF CCT" or the “Trust”) is a
real estate investment trust (“REIT") listed on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “SEHK") on 22 June 2007 (“Listing
Date”).

RREEF CCT was effectively terminated in accordance with the
Code on Real Estate Investment Trusts (the “REIT Code”) on 12
May 2010 and is now in the process of liquidation. For details of
the Proposed Liquidation (all terms as defined in the Glossary
section of this annual report), please refer to the Liquidation
section on pages 12 to 14 in this annual report.

In the Judgement issued on 21 December 2011, the Court of Appeal
of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (“HKSAR") has
dismissed the Appeal. Accordingly, the declaration granted by the
High Court of HKSAR in the 30 June 2011 Judgment, namely that
HSBC Institutional Trust Services (Asia) Limited (the “Trustee") should
proceed with a distribution of the entirety of the net assets of RREEF
CCT without any retention to meet any possible claim by Mr Tin Lik,
has been upheld.

As no application for leave to appeal to the Court of Final Appeal of
HKSAR was filed by Mr Tin Lik on or before 18 January 2012, being
the end of the appeal period for the Appeal, the appeal period for
the Appeal has lapsed.

RREEF China REIT Management Limited, as manager of RREEF CCT
(the “Manager”) and the Trustee have now reached agreement to
take steps to proceed with the final distribution by RREEF CCT to
the Unitholders, the Proposed Liquidation, the Proposed Delisting
and the Proposed Deauthorisation as soon as practicable in
accordance with applicable regulatory requirements. The Manager
currently anticipates that the final distribution by RREEF CCT to
Unitholders will be made on or before 12 May 2012.

Further announcements will be made in relation to the final
distribution, the revised timetable for the Proposed Liquidation, the
Proposed Delisting and the Proposed Deauthroisation when the
Manager has further information in accordance with applicable
regulatory requirements. The effective date and arrangement of
the Proposed Delisting are subject to the approval of SEHK.
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Glossary

In this annual report, the following definitions apply throughout
unless otherwise stated. All other capitalised terms shall have the
same meanings as defined in the circular dated 5 March 2010

(“the Circular”) unless otherwise stated in this annual report.

2010 Interim Distribution means the interim distribution of
HK$4.10 per unit declared and announced on 15 April 2010
comprising the sales proceeds of the Disposal and available cash
resources of RREEF CCT. Cheques for the per unit payment
pursuant to the 2010 Interim Distribution were dispatched on 11
May 2010 to the Unitholders whose names appeared on the
register of unitholders of RREEF CCT (the “Unitholders”) on 23
April 2010. For details, please refer to the Distribution Statement
on page 57 of this annual report.

30 June 2011 Judgment means the judgment of the High Court
of HKSAR issued on 30 June 2011 in relation to the Court
Application. For details, please refer to the Liquidation Section on

pages 12 to 14 in this annual report.

Appeal means the appeal lodged by Mr Tin Lik against the

Judgment for the Court Application by the Trustee on 13 July 2011.

For details, please refer to the Liquidation Section on pages 12 to

14 in this annual report.

Agreement means the sale and purchase agreement dated 3
February 2010 entered into by the Manager, HSBC Institutional
Trust Services (Asia) Limited (the “Trustee”) and Mapletree India
China Fund Ltd in relation to the disposal of the entire issued share
capital of BVI Gateway by the Trustee to Mapletree India China
Fund Ltd.

BVI Gateway means Beijing Gateway Plaza (BVI) Limited, a
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands, which holds the

entire issued share capital of the HK SPV.

Claims means collectively the claims made by Mr Tin Lik pursuant
to the Writ. For details, please refer to the Liquidation Section on

pages 12 to 14 in this annual report.
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RREEF China Commercial Trust
BETEREEHEREERES

Court Application means the application which the Trustee has
resolved to make to the Hong Kong courts for directions regarding
the proper amount to be distributed to Unitholders in the Final
Distribution. For details, please refer to the Liquidation Section on

pages 12 to 14 in this annual report.
Completion means completion of the Agreement.

Completion Date means the date of Completion which occurred
on 12 April 2010.

DB means Deutsche Bank AG.

Disposal means the disposal of the entire issued share capital of
BVI Gateway by the Trustee (acting as trustee of RREEF CCT) to
Mapletree India China Fund Ltd pursuant to the Agreement.

Escrow Account means the separately designated interest
bearing account with Standard Chartered Bank (Hong Kong)
Limited in the name of the escrow agent.

Escrow Amount means an initial amount of HK$150.0 million
deposited in the Escrow Account on the Completion Date which
was subsequently adjusted to HK$129.2 million upon conclusion of

the completion account audit on 22 June 2010.

Escrow Balance Amount means the balance of the Escrow

Amount as at the Escrow End Date, which was HK$129.2 million.

Escrow End Date means 12 November 2010 being the first
Business Day falling on or after the date which is seven months

after the Completion Date.

Final Distribution means the balance of cash resources, after the
satisfaction of outstanding payments to creditors, reserves for
liquidation costs and costs associated with the Appeal and the
Claims, will be distributed on or before 12 May 2012 to Unitholders
whose names appeared on the register of Unitholders on 23 April
2010.

Group means the Trust and its subsidiaries before the Disposal.

HK SPV means HK Gateway Plaza Company Limited, a company
incorporated in Hong Kong holding the Property and Gateway Plaza
Property Operations (Beijing) Limited and a wholly-owned

subsidiary of BVI Gateway.
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Glossary
£z

Judgment of the Appeal means the judgment of the High Court
of HKSAR issued on 21 December 2011 in relation to the Appeal.
For details, please refer to the Liquidation Section on pages 12 to

14 in this annual report.

Original Estimated Liquidation timetable means in the 2010
Interim Report, it was disclosed that, barring unforeseen
circumstances, the Manager estimates that the Proposed
Liguidation, the Proposed Delisting and the Proposed

Deauthorisation would be completed by 31 December 2010.
Property means Beijing Gateway Plaza.

Proposed Deauthorisation means the proposed deauthorisation
of RREEF CCT as a REIT by the Securities and Futures
Commission of Hong Kong (the “SFC") under section 104 of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO"). The Manager will
make application to the SFC on behalf of RREEF CCT for the
Proposed Deauthorisation upon completion of the Proposed
Liguidation.

Proposed Delisting means the proposed delisting of RREEF CCT
units from the SEHK. The Manager has made application to the
SEHK in relation to the Proposed Delisting in March 2010. The
effective date and arrangement of the Proposed Delisting are

subject to the SEHK's approval.

Proposed Liquidation means the proposed liquidation of RREEF
CCT in accordance with the trust deed between the Manager and
the Trustee dated 28 May 2007 (the “Trust Deed") and the Code

on Real Estate Investment Trusts (the “REIT Code”) published by
the SFC. The Manager has commenced procedures in respect of

the Proposed Liquidation since 12 May 2010, being the effective

date of the Termination.

Termination means the termination of RREEF CCT in accordance
with the REIT Code. The effective date of the Termination was 12
May 2010.
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RREEF China Commercial Trust
BETEREEHEREERES

Tin Lik means the vendor, the original owner of the Property which
was sold to RREEF CCT in June 2007.

Trustee’s Notice means the notice dated 29 October 2010
published by the Trustee in the Government of the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region Gazette, certain newspapers and
other public channels pursuant to section 29 of the Trustee
Ordinance (Chapter 29 of the Laws of Hong Kong) which provides
amongst other things, that any person (other than a Unitholder)
who claims to be entitled to the assets of RREEF CCT and/or is
otherwise interested in them, is required to send full particulars of
its/his/her claim to the Trustee before 12 noon (Hong Kong time) on
30 December 2010. No claims were received by the Trustee in

relation to the Trustee’s Notice.

Writ means the writ of summons issued by Mr Tin Lik on 5 July
2011 in the High Court of HKSAR as plaintiff against DB as first
defendant, the Manager as second defendant and the Trustee as
third defendant. For details, please refer to the paragraph under the
heading “Writ of Summons issued by Tin Lik” in the Liquidation

Section on pages 12 to 14 in this annual report.
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Key Highlights
TERE

Unit price as at the end of the period
The highest unit price traded during the period
The highest premium of the unit price

to the net asset value
The lowest unit price traded during the period
The highest discount of the unit price

to the net asset value
Market capitalisation as at the end of the period

Public float as at the end of the period

Net asset value attributable to Unitholders
as at the end of the period

Net asset value per unit as at the end
of the period

Total/annualised distribution yield per unit
as at 31 December

Total number of units in issue as at the
end of the period
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The trading of RREEF CCT units was suspended, since 19 April 2010 and shall remain suspended until the effective

date of Proposed Delisting.

Based on closing unit price on 19 April 2010, being the last trading date of RREEF CCT units on the SEHK as

disclosed in the Circular.

This is not applicable as the net asset value was based on the value date of 31 December 2011 and 2010
respectively while the closing unit price of RREEF CCT was based on the closing unit price on 19 April 2010.

This is not applicable as the trading of RREEF CCT units has been suspended since 19 April 2010, being the last

trading date until the effective date of Proposed Delisting.

This is not applicable as there is no interim and final distribution of RREEF CCT for 2011.

This is not applicable as the 2010 Interim Distribution comprised distribution from sales proceeds of the Disposal and
T.

available cash resources of RREEF CCT.
Based on the closing unit price as at 31 December of the respective period.
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Letter from the Chairman
FEHRES

Dear Unitholders

On behalf of the Board of Directors (“the Board"”) of the Manager, |
am pleased to present the annual report of RREEF CCT for the
Reporting Period from 1 January 2011 to 31 December 2011.

The Board and the Manager'’s focus throughout the Reporting
Period has been to continue with the Trust's liquidation process, in
order to make the Final Distribution to Unitholders. However, this

process is not without frustration and challenge.

On 18 February 2011, the Trustee issued proceedings in the High
Court of HKSAR seeking the court's direction in relation to the Final
Distribution of RREEF CCT. On 31 May 2011, the Court Application
was heard at the High Court of HKSAR. The judgment was issued
on 30 June 2011. In the 30 June 2011 Judgment, the High Court of
HKSAR granted the Trustee the declaration sought that namely that
the Trustee should proceed with a distribution of the entirety of the
net assets of RREEF CCT without any retention to meet any
possible claim by Mr Tin Lik.

On 5 July 2011, Mr Tin Lik issued the Writ in the High Court of
HKSAR as plaintiff against DB as first defendant, the Manager as
second defendant and the Trustee as third defendant. The opinion
of the Board and the Trustee, on the basis of legal advice, is that
the Claims are wholly without merit and will be vigorously
defended by DB, the Manager and the Trustee. The Manager has
continued to update Unitholders as to any material developments
in connection with the Claims.

On 13 July 2011, Mr Tin Lik lodged an appeal against the 30 June
2011 Judgment at the High Court of HKSAR.
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RREEF China Commercial Trust
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On 23 November 2011, the Appeal was heard at the Court of
Appeal of HKSAR. The Judgment of the Appeal was handed down
on 21 December 2011. In the Judgment of the Appeal, the Court
of Appeal of HKSAR has dismissed the Appeal. Accordingly, the
declaration granted by the High Court of HKSAR in the 30 June
2011 Judgment, namely that the Trustee should proceed with a
distribution of the entirety of the net assets of RREEF CCT without
any retention to meet any possible claim by Mr Tin Lik, has been

upheld.

As no application for leave to appeal to the Court of Final Appeal of
HKSAR was filed by Mr Tin Lik on or before 18 January 2012, being
the end of the appeal period for the Appeal, the appeal period for
the Appeal has lapsed.

The Manager and the Trustee have now reached agreement to
take steps to proceed with the final distribution by RREEF CCT to
the Unitholders, the Proposed Liquidation, the Proposed Delisting
and the Proposed Deauthorisation as soon as practicable in
accordance with applicable regulatory requirements. The Manager
currently anticipates that the final distribution by RREEF CCT to the
Unitholders will be made on or before 12 May 2012.

The process of the Writ and the ongoing liquidation of the Trust is
outlined in more detail in the Liquidation Section in the Manager’s

Report.

On behalf of the Board and the Manager, | would like to thank our

Unitholders and staff for their support and patience throughout the
Reporting Period as we earnestly seek to complete the liquidation

of RREEF CCT.

Yours sincerely

Kurt William ROELOFFS, Junior

Chairman and Non-executive Director

23 March 2012
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The Manager’s Report
EEARE

Dear Unitholder,

In the year 2011, from 1 January 2011 to 31 December 2011 (the
"Reporting Period”), RREEF CCT's performance was outlined as
below:

Key Highlights
e The net asset value attributable to the Unitholders totalled

HK$155.3 million or HK$0.335 per unit as at 31 December
2011.

e RREEF CCT made a loss for the Reporting Period of HK$33.9
million, as a result of a legal cost provision of HK$30.5 million
made in relation to the Appeal and the Claims during the
Reporting Period.

e The Trust is in the process of the Proposed Liquidation.

e On 18 Feburary 2011, the Trustee filed the Court Application
and on 30 June 2011, in the 30 June 2011 Judgment the High
Court of HKSAR granted the Trustee the declaration sought
that namely that the Trustee should proceed with a distribution
of the entirety of the net assets of RREEF CCT without any
retention to meet any possible claim by Mr Tin Lik.

e  Onb5July 2011, Mr Tin Lik issued a writ of summons in the
High Court of HKSAR as plaintiff against DB as first defendant,
the Manager as second defendant and the Trustee as third
defendant.

e On13July 2011, 2011 Mr Tin Lik lodged the Appeal at the
High Court of HKSAR.

e On 23 November 2011, the Appeal was heard at the Court of
Appeal of HKSAR. The Judgment of the Appeal was handed
down on 21 December 2011. In the Judgment of the Appeal,
the Court of Appeal of HKSAR has dismissed the Appeal.
Accordingly the declaration granted by the High Court of
HKSAR in the 30 June 2011 Judgment, namely that the
Trustee should proceed with a distribution of the entirety of
the net assets of RREEF CCT without any retention to meet
any possible claim by Mr Tin Lik, has been upheld.
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BETEREEHEREERES

As no application for leave to appeal to the Court of Final Appeal of
HKSAR was filed by Mr Tin Lik on or before 18 January 2012, being
the end of the appeal period for the Appeal, the appeal period for
the Appeal has lapsed.

The Manager and the Trustee have now reached agreement to
take steps to proceed with the final distribution by RREEF CCT to
the Unitholders, the Proposed Liquidation, the Proposed Delisting
and the Proposed Deauthorisation as soon as practicable in
accordance with applicable regulatory requirements.The Manager
currently anticipates that the final distribution by RREEF CCT to the
Unitholders will be made on or before 12 May 2012.

Disposal

As noted in our 2010 Annual Report dated 21 March 2011, at an
extraordinary general meeting convened in March 2010,
Unitholders approved by way of a combined special resolution of
the Disposal, the Termination and the Proposed Delisting, and the
following had been completed by the Trust in 2010:

(i) on 12 April 2010, the Disposal was completed, pursuant to
which, RREEF CCT ceased to hold any interests in BVI
Gateway, HK SPV and Gateway Plaza Property Operations
(Beijing) Limited (collectively the “Group”), which constituted
substantially all the operating businesses and assets of the
Group;

(i) on 19 April 2010, the trading of RREEF CCT units was
suspended on the SEHK, and shall remain suspended until the

effective date of the Proposed Delisting;

(i) on 11 May 2010, the Manager dispatched cheques for the
payment of the 2010 Interim Distribution to the Unitholders
whose names appeared on the register of Unitholders on 23
April 2010;

(iv) on 12 May 2010, RREEF CCT was effectively terminated in
accordance with the REIT Code; and
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The Manager’s Report
EEARE

(v) on 12 November 2010, the Escrow Balance Amount of
HK$129.2 million was transferred to the bank account of
RREEF CCT.

Liquidation

Trustee’s Notice

As a consequence of the Trustee’'s decisions to publish the
Trustee's Notice and to initiate the Court Application, the Board on
10 November 2010 announced that the Original Estimated
Liguidation Timetable would be subject to the outcome of the
Court Application by the Trustee and receipt by the Trustee of any
responses to the Trustee's Notice.

On 3 January 2011, the Manager was informed by the Trustee's
solicitors that no claims were received by the Trustee in relation to
the Trustee's Notice. Please refer to the announcement of RREEF
CCT dated 31 January 2011 for further details.

Court Application by the Trustee

As disclosed in the announcement dated 24 February 2011, the
Manager was informed by the Trustee that on 18 February 2011,
the Trustee had issued proceedings in the High Court of HKSAR.
Under the Court Application, the Trustee sought the court’s
direction including whether it may proceed with a distribution of
the entirety of the net assets of RREEF CCT without retention
(subject to deduction of relevant costs) to meet any possible claim
which might otherwise be made by Mr Tin Lik. Mr Tin Lik and the

Manager were each named as defendants to the Court Application.

No claim has been made, or relief sought, against the Manager
under the Court Application. Instead, the Manager has been joined
to these proceedings as a nominal defendant so that it is able to
provide any assistance that may be required by the Trustee or by
the Court.

On 31 May 2011, the Court Application was heard at the High
Court of HKSAR. The judgment was issued on 30 June 2011. In
the 30 June 2011 Judgment, the High Court of HKSAR granted the
Trustee the declaration sought that namely that the Trustee should
proceed with a distribution of the entirety of the net assets of
RREEF CCT without any retention to meet any possible claim by
Mr Tin Lik.
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On 13 July 2011, Mr Tin Lik lodged the Appeal on the basis of
certain procedural grounds, including but not limited to the alleged
fact that he did not receive proper notice of the court hearing for
the Court Application held on 31 May 2011 and that the High Court
judge refused to postpone the handing down of the 30 June 2011
Judgment to hear an inter-parties summons filed by Mr Tin Lik on
29 June 2011.

On 22 July 2011, the representatives of the Manager, the Trustee
and Mr Tin Lik attended an appointment before the listing officer of
Civil Appeal, and pursuant to the Court’s directions dated 29 July
2011 the Appeal was set down for hearing at the Court of Appeal
of HKSAR on 23 November 2011.

On 23 November 2011, the Appeal was heard at the Court of
Appeal of HKSAR. The Judgment of the Appeal was handed down
on 21 December 2011. In the Judgment of the Appeal, the Court
of Appeal of HKSAR has dismissed the Appeal. Accordingly the
declaration granted by the High Court of HKSAR in the 30 June
2011 Judgment, namely that the Trustee should proceed with a
distribution of the entirety of the net assets of RREEF CCT without
any retention to meet any possible claim by Mr Tin Lik, has been

upheld.

As no application for leave to appeal to the Court of Final Appeal of
HKSAR was filed by Mr Tin Lik on or before 18 January 2012, being
the end of the appeal period for the Appeal, the appeal period for
the Appeal has lapsed.

The Manager and the Trustee have now reached agreement to
take steps to proceed with the final distribution by RREEF CCT to
the Unitholders, the Proposed Liquidation, the Proposed Delisting
and the Proposed Deauthorisation as soon as practicable in
accordance with applicable regulatory requirements. The Manager
currently anticipates that the final distribution by RREEF CCT to the
Unitholders will be made on or before 12 May 2012.
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Writ of Summons issued by Mr Tin Lik

On 5 July 2011, Mr Tin Lik issued a writ of summons in the High
Court of HKSAR as plaintiff against DB as first defendant, the
Manager as second defendant and the Trustee as third defendant.

Pursuant to the Writ, Mr Tin Lik makes certain Claims, including

amongst others:

1. against DB, the Manager and the Trustee, jointly and severally,
challenging the amount under the set-off and claiming,
amongst other things, an entitlement to the Initial Retention
Amount' and an amount of HK$289,426,166 which Mr Tin Lik
claims to be refundable by the Trustee and/or the Manager;
and

2. against DB and the Manager, jointly and severally for

unspecified general damages.

The opinion of the Board and the Trustee, on the basis of legal
advice, is that the Claims are wholly without merit and will be
vigorously defended by DB, the Manager and the Trustee. The
Manager has continued to update Unitholders as to any material

developments in connection with the Claims.
Note:

1. Initial Retention Amount includes (i) retention sum of HK$156 million (US$20
million) held by the Trustee as security pursuant to the sale and purchase
agreement dated 4 June 2007 between Mr Tin Lik as vendor, the Trustee as

purchaser and the Manager in respect of warranties made by the vendor therein;

(ii) remaining balance of initial consideration unpaid to the vendor amounting of
HK$64.95 million; and (i) HK$50 million dividend declared by BVI Gateway in
respect of year ended 31 December 2006 payable to the vendor prior to
acquisition by RREEF CCT.
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Financial Performance

As a result of the Disposal, RREEF CCT ceased to hold any
interests in BVI Gateway , HK SPV and Gateway Plaza Property
Operations (Beijing) Limited, which constituted substantially all of
the operating business and relevant assets of RREEF CCT and its
subsidiaries. Accordingly, there is no turnover and expenses
associated with the Property after the Disposal, which had been

completed in 2010.

For the year ended 31 December 2011, the Trust recorded a loss
for the period of HK$33.9 million. The net asset value attributable
to the Unitholders was reduced from HK$189.2 million or
HK$0.408 per unit as at 31 December 2010 to HK$155.3 million or
HK$0.335 per unit as at 31 December 2011.

Financial Management
As at the end of the Reporting Period, the Trust retained HK$206.4

million in cash and bank balances. The Manager's financial strategy
is to maintain an optimal level of cash to settle outstanding
creditors and to meet the winding up expenses for the Proposed

Liguidation.

Summary of Real Estate Sales and Purchases

The only property of RREEF CCT was disposed of through the
Disposal in 2010.
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Financial Overview
B E

Key Financial Results FTEMBEE

Turnover EHE — 53,159
Property operating expenses WKL ERE — (6,242)
Net property income L EL N — 46,917
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HERTE A REE — (123,747)
Exchange differences realised upon KHERBARMER

disposal of subsidiaries Copiial-: — 193,439
Interest income FBHA 645 1,124
Net exchange gains JEH W TR — 672
Administrative expenses’ TTHRFAL (34,541) (24,977)
Finance costs BB — (19,048)
(Loss)/profit for the year, before MESBEMNIFEARSA

transactions with Unitholders EEAR (B518),Sa F (33,896) 68,775

(Loss)/earnings per unit — basic and diluted ~ FESEM (B518) 57 —EAREE HK($0.07)58 T HK$0.15%% 7T
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Total Distribution LGNS —3 1,903,060*
Final distribution per unit BERESEMKREBDIK — —
Interim distribution per unit @1%@&14'433@ Ik —3 HK$4.10°
Total distribution per unit BEESESDIREATE —3 HK$4.10°
Closing unit price as at year ended RERE {_Lﬂﬁszﬁ HK$4.35¢ HK$4.356
Total distribution yield per unit B+=ZA= ‘I' ASEEES BN

as at 31 December 1R kM R N.A.TEA N.A“RE

Net Asset Value EEFE
Net asset value attributable to Unitholders ~ E& BB AEREEFE 155,320 189,216
Net asset value attributable E S BAFEARLN

BEESBENEEFE HK$0.335%8 7T HK$0.408878 7T

to Unitholders per unit
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Financial Overview
B

Notes:

1

Administrative expenses include Manager's fees, Trustee's fees, auditor's
remuneration, legal and other professional fees and provisions.

Based on the weighted average number of 464,161,000 units in issue for the
year ended 31 December 2011 and 31 December 2010 respectively.

As RREEF CCT sustained a loss after adjustment, there was no distributable
income for the Reporting Period and the year 2010 respectively and therefore no
2011 Interim and Final Distribution and 2010 Final Distribution were declared
respectively. Further details are available in the Distribution Statement of this
report.

The 2010 Interim Distribution of HK$1,903.1 million comprising the sales
proceeds of the Disposal and available cash resources of RREEF CCT. Further
details are available in the Distribution Statement of this annual report.

Based on 464,161,000 units in issue as at 31 December 2010.

Closing unit price as at 19 April 2010, being the last trading date of RREEF CCT
units on the SEHK as disclosed in the Circular. The trading of units of RREEF CCT
has been suspended, since 19 April 2010 and shall remain suspended until the
effective date of the Proposed Delisting.

This is not applicable as the 2010 Interim Distribution comprised the sales
proceeds of the Disposal and available cash resources of RREEF CCT. For further
details, please refer to the Distribution Statement of this annual report.

Based on 464,161,000 units in issue as at 31 December 2011 and 31 December
2010 respectively.
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As a result of the Completion of Disposal in April 2010, RREEF CCT
ceased to hold any interests in BVI Gateway , HK SPV and
Gateway Plaza Property Operations (Beijing) Limited, which
constituted substantially all of the operating business and relevant
assets of RREEF CCT and its subsidiaries. Accordingly, there is no
turnover, property operating expenses and net property income
associated with the Property during the Reporting Period.

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses for the Reporting Period were HK$34.5
million and included the Manager's fee, Trustee's fee, auditor’s
remuneration, legal and other professional fees. As a result of the
Appeal and the Claims, an additional legal cost provision of

HK$30.5 million had been made in the Reporting Period.

Finance Costs

Following the Disposal, the loan facility of HK$1,400.0 million was
fully repaid on 12 April 2010, being the Completion Date.
Consequently, as at 31 December 2011 and during the Reporting
Period, RREEF CCT had no debt and no interest expenses.

Loss for The Period
RREEF CCT reported a loss of HK$33.9 million in the Reporting

Period, compared to a gain of HK$68.8 million for the year ended
31 December 2010. The loss for the Reporting Period was a result
of a legal costs provision of HK$30.5 million made in relation to the
Appeal and the Claims. The gain for the year ended 31 December
2010 arose principally from the exchange differences realised upon
the disposal of subsidiaries of HK$193.4 million off-setting against

the loss on disposal of subsidiaries of HK$123.7 million.

Net Assets Attributable to Unitholders

The net assets attributable to Unitholders as at 31 December 2011
totalled HK$155.3 million, or HK$0.335 per unit.

Capital Structure
As at 31 December 2011, the total number of RREEF CCT units in

issue was 464,161,000 units. No units were cancelled or issued

during the Reporting Period.
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Financial Overview
B

Liquidity

As at 31 December 2011, cash and bank balances held by RREEF
CCT totalled HK$206.4 million. The current cash position is
projected to provide sufficient financial resources for the Trust to

satisfy its working capital needs.

Distribution

Policy

It is the Manager's policy to distribute to the Unitholders at least 90
per cent of RREEF CCT's annual distributable income for each
financial year. In accordance with the Trust Deed and in compliance
with the REIT Code, the Manager also has the discretion to
distribute additional amounts if and to the extent RREEF CCT has,

in the opinion of the Manager, surplus funds available.

2011 Total Distribution

As RREEF CCT sustained a loss of HK$33.9 million after
adjustment, there was no distributable income for the year 2011
and accordingly, no 2011 Interim and Final Distribution was
declared.

Final Distribution

The balance of cash resources, after the satisfaction of outstanding
payments to creditors, liquidation costs and costs associated with
the Appeals and the Claims, will be potentially available for final
distribution to Unitholders whose names appeared on the register
of Unitholders on 23 April 2010.

As noted in the announcement of RREEF CCT dated 10 February
2012, the Manager and the Trustee have now reached agreement
to take steps to proceed with the final distribution by RREEF CCT
to the Unitholders, the Proposed Liquidation, the Proposed
Delisting and the Proposed Deauthorisation as soon as practicable
in accordance with applicable regulatory requirements.

The Manager currently anticipates that the final distribution by
RREEF CCT to Unitholders will be made on or before 12 May 2012.
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The Manager will update Unitholders by further announcement as
soon as reasonably practicable in relation to any material
development and the timetable for the final distribution by RREFF
CCT, the Proposed Liquidation, the Proposed Delisting and the
Proposed Deauthorisation in accordance with applicable regulatory
requirements.
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The Outlook
& &

Proposed Liquidation (ongoing)

Since the effective date of the Termination on 12 May 2010, the
Manager has commenced procedures relating to the Proposed
Liquidation in compliance with the REIT Code and the Trust Deed
and all applicable regulatory requirements. Please refer to pages 12

to 14 for details on the progress of the Proposed Liquidation.

In compliance with Rules 11.8 to 11.10 of the REIT Code and the
terms of the Trust Deed, following the completion of the
Termination, the Trustee shall, as part of the process of the
Proposed Liquidation, oversee the realisation of any remaining
assets of RREEF CCT by the Manager. In addition, the Trustee shall
ensure that the Manager shall repay any outstanding borrowings
effected by or for the account of RREEF CCT (together with any
interest thereon but remaining unpaid) and shall ensure the proper
discharge of all other obligations and liabilities of RREEF CCT or

provision thereof.

Each Unitholder whose name appeared on the register of
Unitholders on 23 April 2010 will be entitled to participate on a pro-
rata basis in any proceeds (including those arising from the
realisation of any remaining assets of RREEF CCT referred to in the
preceding paragraph) derived from the Proposed Liquidation
available for distribution to the Unitholders after any creditors and

the winding up expenses have been paid.

The Manager will make further announcements providing status of
the Proposed Liquidation and other information, including but not
limited to, the final payment per unit pursuant to the realisation of
any remaining assets of RREEF CCT and the dispatch date of the

relevant cheques.
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On completion of the Proposed Liquidation, the following shall be
prepared in accordance with Rule 11.10 of the REIT Code and the
Trust Deed:

(i) the Manager's review and comments on the performance of
RREEF CCT, and an explanation as to how the Property has
been disposed of, the transaction prices and major terms of

the Disposal;

(i) the Trustee's report that the Manager has managed and
liquidated RREEF CCT in accordance with the REIT Code and

the provisions of the Trust Deed;
(iii) financial statements of RREEF CCT; and
(iv) an auditor’s report.

In compliance with Rule 11.11 of the REIT Code, copies of the
financial statements shall be distributed to the Unitholders within
three months of the completion of the Proposed Liquidation of
RREEF CCT and a copy shall be filed with the SFC.

Proposed Delisting (ongoing):

The trading of RREEF CCT units on the SEHK has been suspended
since 19 April 2010 and RREEF CCT's register of Unitholders has
been closed since 23 April 2010. The units shall remain suspended
and RREEF CCT's register of Unitholders shall remain closed until
the effective date of the Proposed Delisting. The effective date and
arrangement for the Proposed Delisting are subject to the SEHK's

approval.
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The Outlook
RE

Proposed Deauthorisation (ongoing):

The Manager will apply for deauthorisation of RREEF CCT as a
REIT authorised by the SFC under section 104 of the SFO. The
effective date and arrangement for the Proposed Deauthorisation
of RREEF CCT is subject to the SFC's approval.

Further announcements shall be made in relation to the details and
timing of the above events in compliance with the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities (“Listing Rules”) on the SEHK and the
REIT Code.

Paul Thomas KEOGH
Executive Director and Fund Manager
23 March 2012
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Board of Directors
EEg

Mr. Kurt William ROELOFFS, Junior

Chairman and Non-executive Director  Age 50
Mr. Roeloffs is the Global Chief Investment Officer for RREEF,
Deutsche Bank's real estate division.

Mr. Roeloffs received a BA degree from Columbia University and
an MBA degree from The Wharton School, University of
Pennsylvania, United State of America. Mr. Roeloffs is currently

based in New York, United State of America.

Mr. Paul Thomas KEOGH

Executive Director and Fund Manager Age 42

With more than 20 years of experience in the real estate and
investment management industry, Paul Keogh has been with
RREEF since 2004 and is recently appointed as Chief Investment

Officer, RREEF Asia Pacific.

Mr. Keogh holds a Bachelor of Business degree in Property, is a

qualified Real Estate Valuer, Licensed Estate Agent, a Fellow of the

Australian Property Institute and a Member of the Royal Institute of

Chartered Surveyors. Mr. Keogh is currently based in Hong Kong.
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Board Directors
EEg

Mr. Niel THASSIM

Executive Director Age 38

Niel Thassim joined Deutsche Bank AG in 2001. He has over 16
years of finance, accounting and real estate investment
management experience. He is currently based in Hong Kong as
the Head of Real Estate, RREEF Asia Pacific.

Mr. Thassim graduated from the University of Sydney, Australia
with a Bachelor of Economics (Accounting) degree and from
Macquarie University a Masters of Applied Finance Degree. Mr
Thassim is a member of the Australian Institute of Chartered
Accountants and a Board Member of the Asian Public Real Estate

Association.

Mr. Thassim has been re-designated as executive director and
appointed as a responsible officer of the Manager both on 19
October 2011.

Mr. Mark Henry FORD

Independent Non-executive Director Age 57
Mr. Ford is the Chairman of Cbus Property. Before retiring from
Deutsche Bank in 2003, Mark Ford was Head of DB Real Estate in

Australia.

Mr. Ford is a commerce graduate from the New South Wales
University of Technology in Sydney. He also holds a Company
Directors Diploma awarded by the Australian Institute of Company

Directors and is a Chartered Accountant in Australia.
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Mr. Jack Richard RODMAN

Independent Non-executive Director Age 65
Jack Rodman has more than 42 years of experience in real estate
consulting and transaction advisory services. He retired from Ernst

& Young LLC in early 2007.

Mr. Rodman received a Bachelor degree in Business
Administration from San Jose State University and a Master
degree in Business Administration from the University of California
at Los Angeles, United States of America. He is a Certified Public
Accountant in California and Washington State and a member of
the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He is a
visiting fellow at Harvard University Real Estate Academic

Initiative.

Dr. MENG XIAOSU

Independent Non-executive Director Age 62

Since 1992, Meng Xiaosu has served as the Chairman of the China
National Real Estate Development Group. He also acts as the
Chairman of the Board of Happy Life Insurance Co., Ltd. and Vice
Chairman of China Enterprise Con-federation China Enterprise

Directors Association.

Dr. Meng holds a Ph.D. in Economics from Peking University. Dr.
Meng received a special subsidy in recognition of his academic
achievement in business administration as “An Outstanding
Expert” by the State Council of China in 2005.
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Compliance

With the objectives of establishing and maintaining high standards
of corporate governance, certain policies and procedures have
been established to ensure that the operation of RREEF CCT is
conducted in a transparent manner. The Manager has adopted a
compliance manual (“Compliance Manual”), as reviewed and
revised from time to time, which sets out key measures and
procedures in relation to the management and operation of RREEF
CCT. Internal checks and balances are also put in place to ensure
that the relevant rules and regulations are duly observed. During
the Reporting Period, RREEF CCT and the Manager have fully
complied with the corporate governance policies laid down in the
Compliance Manual. To the extent applicable, RREEF CCT and the
Manager have also complied with most of the provisions set out in
the REIT Code contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules on
SEHK.

Authorisation Structure

RREEF CCT is a collective investment scheme authorised by the
Securities and Futures Commissions (“SFC") under section 104 of
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFQO") and regulated by the
provisions of the REIT Code. The Manager is licensed by the SFC
under section 116 of the SFO to conduct the regulated activity of
asset management. As at date of issuance of this report, the
Manager has two personnel who are approved as Responsible
Officers and they are all executive directors, pursuant to the
requirements of section 125 of the SFO and Rule 5.4 of the REIT
Code.

The Trustee of RREEF CCT, HSBC Institutional Trust Services Asia
Limited, is a wholly owned subsidiary of The Hongkong and
Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited. It is registered as a trust
company under section 77 of the Trustee Ordinance and is
qualified to act as a trustee for authorised collective investment
schemes under the SFO pursuant to the REIT Code.
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Functions of the Board of Directors of the Manager

The Board is responsible for the overall governance of RREEF CCT
and the Manager including establishing goals for management and
monitoring the achievements of these goals with a view to ensure
that the fiduciary and statutory obligations of the Manager to the
Unitholders are met, and that such duties have priority over all
other duties including the interests of the Manager’s shareholders.

Having regard to these responsibilities, the Board ensures that:
(a) it discharges its fiduciary and statutory duties and obligations;

(b) appropriate conflict identification and management practices
are in place;

(c) strategies are in place for achievement of the objectives of
RREEF CCT;

(d) business plans and budgets are approved, and monitoring of
performance against those plans and budgets is conducted;

(e) RREEF CCT's financial statements are true and fair and
otherwise conform with the relevant law;

(f) appropriate risk management, internal control and regulatory
compliance policies are in place; and

(@) management adheres to high standards of ethics and
corporate governance.

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of RREEF CCT. The Board also carries ultimate
responsibility for the approval of property acquisitions, divestments
and significant transactions.

To assist the Board in its duties, it has established the Audit, Risk
and Compliance Committee, the Disclosures Committee, the
Management and Investment Committee and the Remuneration
Committee.

The Board and the day-to-day management functions of RREEF
CCT are largely separated with the latter being in the hands of the
Fund Manager and its management team.
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Board Composition of the Manager

With the aim of creating a board structure that is both effective and
balanced, the size of the Board has been set to provide for a
minimum of three directors and a maximum of twenty directors
("Directors”). Pursuant to the Manager’s corporate governance
policy, independent non-executive directors (“INEDs”) must be
individuals who fulfill the independence criteria set out in the

corporate governance policy adopted by the Manager.

The composition of the Board is determined using the following
principles:

(@) the Chairman of the Board should be a non-executive Director;

(b) the Board should comprise Directors with the ability and
competence to make appropriate business recommendations
and decisions, an entrepreneurial talent for contributing to the
creation of investor value, relevant experience in the industry
sector, high ethical standards, sound practical sense and a total
commitment to the fiduciary and statutory obligations to
further the interests of the Unitholders and achieve RREEF
CCT's objectives; and

(c) at least one-third of the Board should be INEDs with a
minimum of three INEDs.

As at date of issuance of this report, the Board currently comprises
a total of six Directors, consisting of two Executive Directors, and
one of them who is also the Fund Manager, one Non-executive
Director (including the Chairman) and three INEDs. Details are set

out in the “Board of Directors” section of this report.

All Directors shall retire from office at every annual general
meeting of the Manager and shall be eligible for re-election. Unless
Directors decline re- election in writing, the retiring Directors shall
be deemed re-elected unless the vacated office is filled by electing
a person or persons at the annual general meeting of the Manager,
in accordance with its articles of association.
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Pursuant to the Compliance Manual and subject to re-election,
INEDs will hold office for three years, following their first
appointment (or, if appointed by the Board between annual
meetings of the Manager, from the date of the annual general
meeting of the Manager immediately following their appointment).
An INED shall not hold office for more than nine years, or be
nominated for more than three consecutive terms, whichever is

longer.

The Manager has received written annual confirmation from each
INED of his independence pursuant to the criteria for

independence of INEDs as set out in the Compliance Manual.

Currently, Mr. Kurt William Roeloffs, Junior, is the Chairman of the
Board and Mr. Paul Thomas Keogh holds the positions of Executive

Director and Fund Manager (“Fund Manager”).

Effective from 14 January 2011, Mr. So Tak Young has been re-
designated from a Non-executive Director to an Executive Director
and subsequently effective from 20 October 2011, Mr. So Tak
Young tendered his resignation as an Executive Director.

Effective from 19 October 2011, Mr. Niel Thassim has been re-
designated from a Non-executive Director to an Executive Director.
Mr. Thassim has also been appointed as Responsible Officer of the
Manager on 19 October 2011.

The composition of the Board is reviewed periodically to ensure
that the Board has the appropriate combination of expertise and
experience. The ongoing review of the Board's composition and
recommendations on the appointment and re-appointment of the
Directors are matters within the terms of reference of the

Remuneration Committee.

Up to the date of issuance of this report, five Board meetings were
held with 91.0% per cent attendance by the Directors.
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Board Meetings

During the Reporting Period, the Board have considered, approved,

reviewed and/or formulated the matters as stated but not limited

to the following:

(i)

Strategic review for RREEF CCT

Financial results of RREEF CCT

Announcements/reports for publication, including interim and
annual reports of RREEF CCT

Appointment of responsible officer of the Manager

Re-designation of director

Board Practices and Conduct of Meetings

Directors are given written notices of Board meetings at least
14 days in advance of the meetings. Suitable arrangements
exist to allow Directors to include items in the agenda for
regular Board meetings. Agendas and accompanying board
papers are circulated to allow the Directors to adequately
prepare for the Board meetings. Board consents are given by
votes at the Board meetings or written resolutions signed by a
majority of Directors from time to time. Minutes of Board
meetings and written resolutions, together with any
supporting papers, are kept in safe custody by the Company
Secretary, and are available to all Directors.

Directors’ Attendance Records

During the Reporting Period, five Board meetings were held
and mostly chaired by the Chairman who worked in
conjunction with other Board members, including the Fund
Manager, to formulate strategy and to supervise the business
of the Manager, including review and approval of the financial
results of RREEF CCT, consideration and approval of the
annual budget of RREEF CCT.
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The attendance records of each member of the Board at the said

five Board meetings are set out below:
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Chairman and Non-executive Director

IRRIFPTES

Mr. Kurt William ROELOFFS, Junior v
Kurt Willian ROELOFFS, Juniorfc 4%

Executive Directors

HITES

Mr. Paul Thomas KEOGH (Fund Manager) \
Paul Thomas KEOGH % 4 (H & 4R 1%)

Mr. SO Tak Young' \
SO Tak Young%t &’

Mr. Niel THASSIM? v
Niel THASSIM%E 42

Independent Non-executive Directors

BIUIFRITES

Mr. Jack Richard RODMAN X
Jack Richard RODMAN % 4

Mr. Mark Henry FORD \
Mark Henry FORD % &

Dr. MENG Xiaosu v
hEFHE LT

Y N v v
Y N v v
N v N.A. N.A.

i A TiE A
Y N X N
X N v v
Y N v v
Y N X v

Notes:
1 Mr. So Tak Young has been re-designated from a Non-executive Director to an

Executive Director of the Board of the Manager with effect from 14 January 2011.

Mr. So had tendered his resignation as an Executive Director with effect from 20
October 2011.
2 Mr. Niel Thassim has been re-designated from an Non-executive Director to an

Executive Director of the Board of the Manager with effect from 19 October 2011.
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Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee

The Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee was appointed by the
Board. At least three members of the Audit, Risk and Compliance
Committee are required to be INEDs, at least one of whom must
have appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise. Currently, the members of the
Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee are Mr. Jack Richard
Rodman, Mr. Mark Henry Ford and Dr. Meng Xiaosu as INEDs and
Mr. Kurt William Roeloffs as Non-executive Director. Mr. Mark
Henry Ford is the Chairman of the Audit, Risk and Compliance
Committee.

Effective from 19 October 2011, Mr. Kurt William Roeloffs was
appointed by the Board as a member of the Audit, Risk and

Compliance Committee.

Effective from 19 October 2011, Mr. Niel Thassim ceased to be a

member of the Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee.

The role of the Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee is to assist
the Board in fulfilling its responsibilities by monitoring the
Manager’s compliance with the SFC licensing requirements, the
Trust Deed, the REIT Code and other regulatory requirements and
by reviewing its compliance, operational risk management and
internal audit programs. The objective of the Audit, Risk and
Compliance Committee is also to assist the Board in fulfilling its
responsibilities by reviewing the integrity and quality of RREEF
CCT's financial statements and disclosures, and reviewing RREEF

CCT's auditing, accounting and financial reporting processes.

The Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee’s responsibilities also

include, among other things:

(a) reviewing the treatment of significant conflicts of interests
arising in the business of RREEF CCT, including related party
transactions;

(b) reviewing the evaluation of the adequacy of RREEF CCT's

operational risk management processes;
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(c) reviewing the accounting policies and practices adopted by the
Manager and compliance with accounting standards, the REIT

Code and relevant legislation;

(d) reviewing the procedures for the selection and appointment of
the external auditor and for the rotation of external audit

engagement partners; and

(e) approving engagements for all audit services and for non-audit
services of an amount greater than or equal to HK$1,000,000.

Up to the date of issuance of this report, the Audit, Risk and
Compliance Committee held four regular meetings with 93.8%
attendance by the members and during such period of time had
reviewed the final results for the year ended 31 December 2010,
interim results for the period ended 30 June 2011 and other
internal controls, risk management and compliance matters of
RREEF CCT.

Disclosures Committee

The Disclosures Committee, which was appointed by the Board
consists of the Executive Director and Fund Manager, Mr. Paul
Thomas Keogh, one Executive Director, Mr. Niel Thassim
(Chairman) and one INED, Mr. Jack Richard Rodman, as at the end
of the Reporting Period.

The role of the Disclosures Committee is to review matters
relating to the disclosure of information to the Unitholders and
public announcements or circulars. The Disclosures Committee
also works with the management team to ensure the disclosure of

information is accurate, complete and made in a timely manner.

The Disclosures Committee’s responsibilities include:

(a) reviewing and recommending to the Board corporate
disclosure issues and announcements, financial reporting,
connected party transactions, and potential areas of conflicts
of interest;
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(b) overseeing compliance with applicable legal requirements and
the continuity, accuracy, clarity, completeness and currency of
information disseminated by or on behalf of RREEF CCT to the

public and applicable regulatory agencies;

(c) reviewing and approving all material non-public information and
all public regulatory filings on behalf of RREEF CCT prior to
such information being disseminated to the public or filed with

applicable regulatory agencies, as applicable; and

(d) reviewing periodic and current reports, proxy statements,
information statements, registration statements and any other

information filed with regulatory bodies.

Up to the date of issuance of this report, the Disclosures
Committee held four regular meetings with 91.7% attendance by
the members and during such period of time had reviewed the
final results for the year ended 31 December 2010 and 2011
respectively, interim results for the period ended 30 June 2011 and

other corporate disclosure related matters of RREEF CCT.

Management and Investment Committee

The Management and Investment Committee was appointed by
the Board. As at the end of the Reporting Period, the Management
and Investment Committee consists of two Executive Directors
(including the Fund Manager), Mr. Paul Thomas Keogh and Mr. Niel

Thassim (Chairman).

The role of the Management and Investment Committee is to
assist the management team in the direction, implementation and

monitoring of the Manager’s plans and strategies.

The Management and Investment Committee’s responsibilities

also include:

(a) reviewing and recommending investment transactions to the
Board,

(b) monitoring service levels with all external service providers;

and

(c) monitoring all treasury related transactions.
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At the date of issuance of this report, during the Reporting Period,
the Management and Investment Committee held two meetings

with 100 per cent attendance by the members.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was appointed by the Board and
currently consists of one non-executive Director, Mr. Kurt William
Roeloffs, Junior as well as one INED, Mr. Mark Henry Ford

(Chairman).

Effective from 19 October 2011, Mr. Niel Thassim resigned from
Remuneration Committee. Also, with effect from the same date,
Mr. Kurt William Roeloffs ceased to act as Chairman of
Remuneration Committee but he remains as a member of such
Committee while Mr. Mark Henry Ford has been appointed as

Chairman of Remuneration Committee.

The role of the Remuneration Committee is to oversee all aspects
of Directors’ and executives’ remuneration and performance

evaluation.

The Remuneration Committee’s responsibilities also include

reviewing and recommending to the Board, among other things:

(@) remuneration strategy, including the design of short and long-

term employee incentive schemes;

(b) Directors’, executives' and employees’ remuneration, having

regard to performance;

(c) aggregate annual short and long-term incentive pools; and

(d) Directors’ and executives’ succession plans.

During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee held its
annual meeting with 100 per cent attendance by its members. The
Committee had evaluated the performance of the Board and its
members and reviewed the terms and conditions of employment

of senior executives and Board members.
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Auditors’ Remuneration

During the Reporting Period, fees paid and payable to the auditors of
RREEF CCT for audit amounted to HK$1,000,000.

Internal Controls

The Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee is responsible to the
Board for ensuring the existence and implementation of an

effective system of internal controls.

The Board reviewed the effectiveness of the internal control
systems through the Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee
during the Reporting Period.

Management of Business Risk

The Board meets regularly to review the financial performance of
the Manager and RREEF CCT against a previously approved
budget. The Board also reviews any risks to the assets of RREEF
CCT, examines liability management and acts upon any comments
from the auditors of RREEF CCT.

The Manager has designed a system of risk oversight,
management and internal control to identify, assess, monitor and
manage risk, and to enable the Manager to keep the Unitholders
informed of material changes in RREEF CCT's risk profile. This
system includes the establishment of the Audit, Risk and

Compliance Committee.

The Manager has also appointed experienced and well qualified
management to handle the day to day operations of the Manager
and RREEF CCT. In assessing business risk, the Board considers
the economic environment and risks within the property industry. It
reviews management reports and feasibility studies on individual

projects prior to approving major transactions.
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Conflicts of Interest

The Manager has instituted the following procedures to deal with

conflicts of interest issues:

(a)

The INEDs act independently for the interests of the
Unitholders. Furthermore, the management structure of the
Manager includes the Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee
and the Disclosures Committee which identify and address

any potential conflicts of interest.

All connected party transactions are managed in accordance

with the procedures set out in the Compliance Manual.

Any Director with a material interest in a transaction or
arrangement is required to declare his interest to the Board at
the earliest meeting of the Board at which the question of
entering into the contract, business or arrangement is to be

discussed.

A Director shall not vote (or be counted in the quorum at a
meeting) in relation to any resolution concerning any contract
or arrangement in which he, to his knowledge, is materially
interested. This prohibition shall not apply and a Director may
vote and be counted in the quorum in relation to any resolution

concerning any one or more of the following matters:

() granting him any guarantee, indemnity or security in
respect of any debt or obligation incurred by him at the
request of or for the benefit of the Manager (in its own
capacity and not in its capacity as manager of RREEF CCT)

or any of its subsidiaries;

(i) granting a third party any guarantee, indemnity or security
in respect of any debt or obligation of the Manager (in its
own capacity and not in its capacity as manager of RREEF
CCT) or any of its subsidiaries for which the Director has
assumed responsibility in whole or in part and whether
alone or jointly under a guarantee or indemnity or by the

giving of security;
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(iif)

(iv)

any contract concerning the Manager (in its own capacity
and not in its capacity as Manager of RREEF CCT) or any
of its subsidiaries and any other company (not being a
company in which the Director beneficially owns five per
cent or more) in which the Director is interested directly or

indirectly as an officer, employee or shareholder;

any contract concerning the adoption, modification or
operation of a pension fund or retirement, death or
disability benefits scheme which relates both to Directors
and employees of the Manager or of any of its subsidiaries
and does not provide in respect of any Director as such
any privilege or advantage not accorded to the employees

to which the fund or scheme relates;

any contract for the benefit of employees of the Manager
or of any of its subsidiaries under which the Director
benefits in a similar manner to the employees and which
does not accord to any Director as such any privilege or
advantage not accorded to the employees to whom the

contract relates; and

any contract for the purchase or maintenance for any

Director or Directors of insurance against any liability.

No Director was materially interested in any contract of

significance during or at the end of the Reporting Period.

The Board, including INEDs, ensures that RREEF CCT is treated in
a consistent and equitable manner under the rotation system. The

Manager will inform the Unitholders if future changes to the said

Client Investment Allocation Policy will materially and adversely

affect the interests of the Unitholders.
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General Meetings

RREEF CCT will in each year hold a general meeting as its annual
general meeting in addition to any other meetings in that year. The
Trustee or the Manager may at any time convene a meeting of the
Unitholders. Pursuant to the Trust Deed, the Manager shall also
convene a meeting if requested in writing by not less than two
Unitholders with a registered holding of not less than ten per cent
of the issued and outstanding units. In the consideration of an
ordinary resolution, a minimum of 14 days’ notice of meeting will
be given to the Unitholders while a special resolution requires a
minimum of 21 days’ notice of meeting to be served to
Unitholders. Such notice shall specify the date, time and place of

the meeting and the terms of any resolutions to be proposed.

Two or more Unitholders present in person or by proxy registered
as holding together not less than ten per cent of the units for the
time being in issue and outstanding will form a quorum for the
transaction of all business, except for the purpose of passing a
special resolution of the Unitholders. The quorum for passing a
special resolution of the Unitholders will be two or more
Unitholders present in person or by proxy registered as holding
together not less than 25 per cent of the units for the time being in

issue and outstanding.

Matters to be Decided by Unitholders by
Special Resolution

Pursuant to the Trust Deed, decisions with respect to certain
matters require specific prior approval of Unitholders by way of
special resolution. Such matters include among other things,
removal of the Trustee and the auditors of RREEF CCT.

Reporting and Transparency

RREEF CCT prepares its financial statements in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, with a financial year-end
of 31 December and a financial half-year of 30 June for each
calendar year. In accordance with the REIT Code, the annual
reports and financial statements for RREEF CCT are published and
sent to Unitholders no later than four months following each
financial year-end and the interim reports and financial statements

no later than three months following each financial half-year end.
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In accordance with the Listing Rules, the annual results
announcement for the Reporting Period of RREEF CCT are
required to be published not later than three months after the
financial year ended 31 December 2011.

As required by the REIT Code, the Manager will ensure that public
announcements of material information and developments with
respect to RREEF CCT will be made on a timely basis in order to
keep the Unitholders apprised of the position of RREEF CCT.

Units in Issue

The Manager confirms that there was no repurchase, sale or
redemption of RREEF CCT units and that no new units were
issued during the Reporting Period. The total number of units in
issue was 464,161,000 as at 31 December 2011.

Public Float

Based on publicly available information and to the best knowledge
of the Manager, more than 25 per cent of the issued units of
RREEF CCT were held in public hands as at 31 December 2011.

Employees

RREEF CCT is externally managed by the Manager and does not

employ any staff.

Review of Annual Report

The annual report of RREEF CCT for the Reporting Period has been
reviewed by the Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee and the
Disclosures Committee of the Manager in accordance with their
respective terms of reference. The financial information included in
this report has also been agreed by the auditors of RREEF CCT.
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Interests of and Dealings in the Units by Directors, the
Manager or the Significant Holders

To monitor and supervise any dealings of the units, the Manager
has adopted a Dealings Code (the “Dealings Code"”) containing
rules on dealings by the Directors and the Manager on terms no
less exacting than the required standard set out in the Model Code
pursuant to the Listing Rules Appendix 10. Pursuant to this code,
any Director or the Manager wishing to deal in the units must first
have regard to provisions analogous to those set out in Part XIl|
and XIV of the SFO with respect to insider dealing and market
misconduct. In addition, a Director must not make any
unauthorised disclosure of confidential information or make any

use of such information for the advantage of himself or others.

The Manager has adopted procedures for monitoring the
disclosure of interests by the Directors, the Fund Manager and the
Manager. The provisions of Part XV of the SFO shall be deemed to
apply to the Manager, the Directors, the Fund Manager, and each

Unitholder and all persons claiming through or under them.

Under the Trust Deed and by virtue of the deemed application of
Part XV of the SFO, Unitholders with a holding of five per cent or
more of the units in issue will have a notifiable interest and are
required to notify the SEHK and the Manager of their holdings in
RREEF CCT.

Confirmation of Compliance with the Dealings Code

RREEF CCT has made specific enquiry of all Directors, the
Manager and its employees and each has confirmed that he/she
has complied with the required standard as set out in the Dealings
Code throughout the Reporting Period.
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Connected Party Transactions with the Trustee’s
Connected Persons and Manager’s Connected Persons

The following information on the Connected Party Transactions (as defined
under the REIT Code), if any, between RREEF CCT and the Trustee (and its
Directors, senior executives, officers, controlling entities, holding
companies, subsidiaries and associated companies) and the HSBC Group'
(collectively, the “Trustee’s Connected Persons”) and; the Connected Party
Transactions between RREEF CCT and the Manager Group? (the
“Manager's Connected Persons”) during the Reporting Period.

Ordinary Banking and Financial Services®
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The Hongkong and Shanghai Trustee's Connected
Banking Corporation Limited Persons
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Bank deposits 1,098
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Interest income —
received/receivable

Bl e BUA

The Manager confirms that during the Reporting Period, there was no
ordinary banking and financial services transactions entered into between
RREEF CCT and the Manager Group.

Notes:

' HSBC Group refers to The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
and its subsidiaries and unless otherwise expressly stated herein, excludes the
Trustee and its proprietary subsidiaries (being the subsidiaries of the Trustee but
excluding those subsidiaries formed in its capacity as the Trustee of RREEF CCT).

2 Manager Group refers to the Manager and its Directors, senior executives, officers,
controlling entities, holding companies, subsidiaries and associated companies
including Deutsche Bank AG and its subsidiaries.

3 Ordinary banking and financial services include bank deposits and interest earned
therefrom.

Lease Transactions

Both the Manager and the Trustee confirm that during the Reporting
Period, there was no lease transaction between RREEF CCT and the
Manager Group or the HSBC Group.
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Corporate Finance Transactions

Both the Manager and the Trustee confirm that during the Reporting
Period, there was no corporate finance transaction between RREEF CCT
and the Manager Group or the HSBC Group.

Connected Party Transactions with the Principal Valuer’s
Connected Persons

There were no Connected Party Transactions with the Principal Valuer's
Connected Persons during the Reporting Period.

Confirmation by the Independent Non-executive
Directors of the Manager

The INEDs of the Manager confirm that they have reviewed all relevant
connected party transactions during the Reporting Period and they are
satisfied that those transactions have been entered into:

(i) inthe ordinary and usual course of business of RREEF CCT,

(i) on normal commercial terms (to the extent that there are comparable
transactions) or, where there are not sufficient comparable
transactions to judge whether they are on normal commercial terms,
on terms no less favourable to RREEF CCT than terms available to or
from (as appropriate) independent third parties; and

(i) in accordance with the relevant agreements and the Manager's
internal procedures governing them, if any, on terms that are fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the Unitholders of RREEF CCT as a
whole.

Confirmation by the Auditors of RREEF CCT

Pursuant to the waivers from strict compliance with the requirements
under Chapter 8 of the REIT Code, the Manager has engaged the auditors
of RREEF CCT to report on RREEF CCT's connected party transactions on
the ordinary banking and financial services, leasing transactions and
corporate finance transactions, where applicable, for the Reporting Period
in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000
“Assurance Engagements other than Audits or Reviews of Historical
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on
Continuing Connected Transactions with the Hong Kong Listing Rules”
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

The auditors have issued their unqualified letter containing their findings
and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions
disclosed by RREEF CCT on page 81 of the annual report in accordance
with the waivers granted by the SFC, the REIT Code and the Main Board
Listing Rule 14A.38. A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided by
RREEF CCT to the SFC.
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Interests of Connected Persons in Units

BEATRESENNER

The REIT Code requires disclosure in the annual report holdings of each
Connected Person (as defined under the REIT Code) to the scheme. The
provisions of Part XV of the SFO are also deemed by the Trust Deed
constituting RREEF CCT to apply to the Manager, the Directors and the
Fund Manager of the Manager and to persons interested in or having a
short position in the units of RREEF CCT.

Holdings of the Manager and Directors/Fund
Manager of the Manager

As at 31 December 2011, the interests and short positions in units of the
Manager, the Directors and the Fund Manager as recorded in the Register
of Interests required to be kept by the Manager under Schedule 3 of the
Trust Deed were as follows:

EHERAEERESTIREFHRESNEH
BAL(REHEREETESTINES)
AR HRERREMS#ED - REAKER
FHEZESNEFRRY  BFRBEERIIFEXV
HOBGXTREREANEREA  EBANE
ERESKE  UENEERHEESESE
UEBERIORAOAL -

EBARES E&REFiGER

MRZBE-——F+-A=+—H REBARE
ERENMNKR=FEENEaERMALE
ERA BEERESEERESBUMFEER
EARBIT :

Mr Jack Richard RODMAN?
Long Position

Jack Richard RODMAN %t 4?2
e

75,000 0.02

Mr Kurt William
ROELOFFS Junior?
Long Position

Kurt William ROELOFFS
Juniorft &2
e

900,000 0.19

75,000

0.02 —

900,000 0.19 —

Notes:

" Based on 464,161,000 units in issue as at 31 December 2011 and 30 June 2011
respectively.

2 Each of the Directors holds a beneficial interest in the units of RREEF CCT as
described in the table.

Bt 3

' RERZZ——F+ZA=+—RAR=ZT——FX
B=+HB5 5B %17E% 8B(1464,161,000fE5 & °

2 NRAE  REENEEFHEESNESEN
HAE SR -
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RREEF China Commercial Trust
BEHEREEHEREERES

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2011, the Manager, Directors
and the Fund Manager have no other interests in the units of RREEF CCT.
Please refer to the tables and notes below in relation to the interests in the
units of RREEF CCT by other Connected Persons.

Holdings of Other Unitholders

According to information available to the Manager, as at 31 December
2011, the interests and short positions in units of every person holding five
per cent or more interest in the units of RREEF CCT (other than the
Manager, the Directors and the Fund Manager of the Manager as stated
above) were as follows:

2011 Annual Report
T —FFR

BEXHBEEN  R_T——F+ZA=+—
B EBEBA BEZRESKENEREERM
EESNESEMTHRAEMET - BREMD
MEALIREEFHERSNESEMR ZHM
FiigEm o F2HEUATEREENE -

Hitt B S B HE ARG EDS
BREERARGZER HR-T——F+=4
St—H REBERMEESNESBUTR
AEHZ AR EEHNEE AT (R EXAML
MEBA  EERESEBRIN RES B
BHsRARIT ;

Daniel Saul OCH?
Long Position
5R

119,057,500 25.65

Och-Ziff Capital
Management Group LLC?
Long Position 25.65

HR

119,057,500

OZ Management L.P2
Long Position
HaE

119,057,500 25.65

OZ Asia Master Fund, Ltd.®
Long Position
A

69,426,800 14.96

The Real Return
Group Limited *
50,759,000

Long Position 10.94

HR

119,057,500

119,057,500

119,057,500

69,426,800

50,854,000

25.65 —

25.65 —

25.65 —

14.96 —

10.96 (0.02)

Please refer to page 49 for the notes.

FELHEA9BNE RN -
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Interests of Connected Persons in Units
BEATRESENWER

Holdings of Other Unitholders (continued) HttBESBUBFEAFEEZ®

TIN Lik 8

Long Position 46,269,000 9.97 46,269,000 9.97 —
i)

"R

0Z Master Fund, Ltd ©
Long Position 43,698,700 9.41 43,698,700 9.41 —
e

Government of Singapore
Investment Corporation
Pte Ltd. 7
Long Position 32,432,157 6.99 32,432,157 6.99 —
=)

UBS AG®
Long Position 23,934,000 5.16 23,934,000 5.16 —
o)
I ————————————

2

Please refer to page 49 for the notes. 2RIE4I9B MBI -



RREEF China Commercial Trust
BETEREEHEREERES

Holdings of Other Unitholders (continued)

Notes:

1

8

Based on 464,161,000 units in issue as at 31 December 2011 and 30 June 2011
respectively.

As at 31 December 2011, OZ Management L.P. held a long position of
119,057,500 units through its wholly owned subsidiaries OZ Asia Master Fund,
Ltd., OZ Master Fund, Ltd., Gordel Holdings Ltd., Goldman Sachs & Co. Profit
Sharing Master Trust, OZ Global Special Investments Master Fund, L.P. and OZ
Select Master Fund, Ltd.. OZ Management L.P. was wholly owned by Och-Ziff
Holding Corporation which was a wholly owned subsidiary of Och-Ziff Capital
Management Group LLC. Mr Daniel Saul OCH owned 79.10 per cent of Och-Ziff
Capital Management Group LLC.

The long position of 119,057,500 units held by OZ Management L.P. in its
capacity as investment manager also represented the deemed interests of Mr
Daniel Saul OCH, Och-Ziff Capital Management Group LLC and Och-Ziff Holding
Corporation by virtue of the SFO.

As at 31 December 2011, OZ Asia Master Fund, Ltd. was reported to hold a
beneficial interest in 69,426,800 units.

The Real Return Group Limited controls the entire issued share capital of Veritas
Asset Management (UK) Ltd and Veritas Asset Management AG, each holding
the position of 50,087,000 units and 672,000 units respectively in their capacity
as the corporation controlled by The Real Return Group Limited.

Mr TIN Lik was reported to hold a beneficial interest in 46,269,000 units.

OZ Master Fund, Ltd. was reported to hold a beneficial interest in 43,698,700
units.

Government of Singapore Investment Corporation Pte Ltd in its capacity as
investment manager was reported to hold a beneficial interest in 32,432,157
units.

UBS AG was reported having a security interest in 23,934,000 units.

2011 Annual Report
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HthESBENBFEAMSERZE®
i -

1

BER—T—— - A=+ —AR-F——&
NA=THBH{TES B1464,161,000(H5 &

MZ-ZE——%F+_-A=+—H ' 0ZManagement
L.PEBE2EH ERQFOZ Asia Master Fund,
Ltd. * OZ Master Fund, Ltd. » Gordel Holdings
Ltd. » Goldman Sachs & Co. Profit Sharing Master
Trust ~ OZ Global Special Investments Master
Fund, L.P.}20Z Select Master Fund, Ltd.##&
119,057,50018 E & & {1,218 ° OZ Manage-
ment L.P./# Och-Ziff Holding Corporation% & #
A + MOch-Ziff Holding Corporation & Och-Ziff
Capital Management Group LLCEH) 2 & KB A &) -
Daniel Saul OCH%t 4 # B Och-Ziff Capital Man-
agement Group LLCE D 2t T N8 —mHEx -

RIEEERBAEES - H0Z Management L.P.
LA EEE A FHFT##9119,057, 50018 & & B {1
24 B IR 48 1 ADaniel Saul OCHZE 4% + Och-
Ziff Capital Management Group LLCX Och-Ziff
Holding Corporation## B 2 # 25 °

BHRE R-_T——F+-A=1+—8 "  0ZAsia
Master Fund, Ltd.#5 %5 69,426,80018 & & E {1 )

The Real Return Group LimitediZ #lVeritas As-
set Management (UK) Limited }z Veritas Asset
Management AGZ 2B #/TIRA » HESHIA
fiThe Real Return Group LimitediZ#l| 2z A7 2
17 5 B# 2 50,087,0001E 5 & & {7 2 672,0001E
ER &8 -

B IE - OZ Master Fund, Ltd# 443,698, 7001
HEoBEMMESER °

BIRE - MINEBUTIREBRARIEEEEA
)N E32,432, 167 AE S BN ELRSEZ

EiRE - UBS AGH523,934,00018E & Bz 8y
BHEE -
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Trustee’s Report
SEARSE

We hereby confirm that, in our opinion, the Manager of RREEF China
Commercial Trust has, in all material respects, managed RREEF China
Commercial Trust in accordance with the provisions of the Trust Deed
dated 28 May 2007, for the financial year ended 31 December 2011.

HSBC Institutional Trust Services (Asia) Limited
(in its capacity as Trustee of RREEF China Commercial Trust)

Hong Kong, 23 March 2012

EEBUNER  EERRNRBE_Z—F+
TA=T-RLEREE  FETEHESM
EREGEREASNERAEMBHERTEEE
BR_ZETLFRA-ZTNBITUNEFERY
MG EREETEREEHERERGRE
& o

E W MIB SRR (T BRAT
(UEEH AR LB ERE RSN TN
BE1)
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RREEF China Commercial Trust
BETEREEHEREERES

Independent Auditor’'s Report
BB ERRE

RINA

Independent auditor’s report to the Unitholders of
RREEF China Commercial Trust

(a Hong Kong collective investment scheme authorised under section 104
of the Securities and Future Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong))

We have audited the financial statements of RREEF China Commercial
Trust (“"RREEF CCT") set out on pages 53 to 83, which comprise the
balance sheet as at 31 December 2011, the income statement, the
statement of comprehensive income, the statement of changes in net
assets attributable to Unitholders, the cash flow statement and the
distribution statement for the year then ended and a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Manager’s responsibility for the financial statements

RREEF China REIT Management Ltd, as the Manager of RREEF CCT, is
responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and
fair view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the
relevant provisions of the trust deed dated 28 May 2007 (the “Trust Deed"”)
and the relevant disclosure requirements set out in Appendix C of the Code
on Real Estate Investment Trusts issued by the Securities and Futures
Commission of Hong Kong (the “REIT Code"), and for such internal control
as the Manager of RREEF CCT determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements
based on our audit. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with Appendix C of the REIT Code and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free from material misstatement.

2011 Annual Report
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Independent Auditor’s Review Report
BAREMEMRE

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures
selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers
internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of the financial
statements that give a true and fair view in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
made by the Manager of RREEF CCT, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the
disposition of the assets and liabilities of RREEF CCT as at 31 December
2011 and of its result of operation and cash flows for the year then ended
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have
been properly prepared in accordance with the relevant provisions of the
Trust Deed and the relevant disclosure requirements set out in Appendix C
of the REIT Code.

Emphasis of matter

Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to the fact that RREEF
CCT is in the process of termination and liquidation. Details about the basis
of preparation of the financial statements are set out in note 2 (b) to the
financial statements.

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

23 March 2012
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RREEF China Commercial Trust
BETEREEHEREERES

Income Statement

i &8 &

For the year ended 31 December 2011 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

BEZ——H+-_A=+—BHILFE BFESEER  AEBETIIR)
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2011 2010
—E——F —T-TF
Note $000 $000
k=S Fr T
Turnover =20 3&8 — 53,159
Property operating expenses YEL LR 4 — (6,242)
Net property income MERNFE — 46,917
Interest income FLEHA 645 1,124
Administrative expenses TE R (34,541) (24,977)
Finance costs A& A 5(a) — (19,048)
Net exchange gains E MR F e — 672
(33,896) 4,688
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEHE A REE — (123,747)
Exchange differences realised upon KHENE AR
disposal of subsidiaries ERAERZRE — 193,439
(Loss)/profit before taxation and KREABEREES
transactions with Unitholders BUBEARSA
 (E18) BF 5 (33,896) 74,380
Income tax FriSHt 6(a) — (5,605)
(Loss)/profit for the year, before HESENEFEA
transactions with Unitholders RBAEHER
(B18) wF (33,896) 68,775
(Loss)/earnings per unit BESEN (FR)
- basic and diluted A — B
N3 1 7 ($0.073) $0.148

RREEF CCT disposed of all real estate business and relevant assets on 12
April 2010 and as a result, it is in the process of termination and liquidation.

The comparative figures in respect of the year ended 31 December 2010

mainly included the revenue and related expenses of the discontinued real
estate business. More details are set out in note 2(b) to the financial

statements.

The notes on pages 61 to 83 form part of these financial statements.

EEEWEESER _E-ETFNA+_AL
EMBEREMENEBLEEEE  cAMER
FHEARERER BE-_T—ZTFE+ A=
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Statement of Comprehensive Income
2 H K& &

For the year ended 31 December 2011 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

BE-Z——F+ A=t -HALFEZGFRZHEHRA - LWELIR

2011 2010
—2-—F —TTF
$000 $000
Fir Tt
(Loss)/profit for the year, before HESBNEEARZA
transactions with Unitholders HERR (B518) Al (33,896) 68,775
Other comprehensive income NBRBIEEHARNEMM
for the year, net of tax: 2mENE -
Exchange differences realised upon HEMNBARMER
disposal of subsidiaries HE R ZERE — (193,439)
Total comprehensive income
for the year HAZHEHKEERE (33,896) (124,664)

The notes on pages 61 to 83 form part of these financial statements. FOIEEFSIENMABLENBREIS -



RREEF China Commercial Trust
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BETHERERMEREEEES —E——FFR
EESER
EESE
As at 31 December 2011 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
REZT——F+=-A=+—8 BRIFSEER - UETIR)
Note 2011 2010
FixE e e
$000 $'000
Fr T
Current assets REBEE
Other receivables H b EYGRIE 11 24
Cash and cash equivalents ReERBEEEED 9 206,445 215,534
206,456 215,558
Total assets wmEE 206,456 215,558
Current liabilities RBEE
Other payables and accruals HAb R RIERTERER 10 40,236 15,442
Amount due to the Vendor ERE A 11 10,900 10,900
51,136 26,342
Net current assets RBEEFE 155,320 189,216
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRBAE 155,320 189,216
Total liabilities, excluding net HEF(TEEESEN
assets attributable to Unitholders BEAEGLEEFE 51,136 26,342
NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE EoBENFEAEN
TO UNITHOLDERS EEFE 155,320 189,216
Number of units in issue CRTESENEA 12 464,161,000 464,161,000
Net asset value attributable to HEEBURBEAEMLN
Unitholders per unit SEESENEERE $0.335 $0.408
Approved and authorised for issue by RREEF China REIT Management R_E——F=A-_+=HEEHTEEILES

Limited, as the Manager of RREEF China Commercial Trust on 23 March

2012.

Kurt William ROELOFFS, Junior
Chairman
TE

RREEF China REIT Management Limited

EETEEREESERABRAR

ERERAF(FAERETERESMERER

RESEEAN) HSERFREN S

TRAERE

Paul Thomas KEOGH
Exeutive Director

HITEF
RREEF China REIT Management Limited
EETEERESEEARAT

The notes on pages 61 to 83 form part of these financial statements.
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Statement of Changes in Net Assets Attributable to Unitholders
ESEVRFAEABLMEEREEZBDR

For the year ended 31 December 2011 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

BEZ——S+-_A=1+—HLLFE KFSEER  LLBTIIR)

2011 2010
—2--F —E-TF
$000 $000
Fr Tt
Balance as at 1 January A—R—B#&k 189,216 2,284,940
(Loss)/profit for the year FE (8518, 5H (33,896) 68,775
Other comprehensive income Hib2mkA — (193,439)
Total comprehensive income for the year FAEEBALREE (33,896) (124,664)

Distributions paid to Unitholders ERESEMFEEA

SRNL:0baNI — (1,971,060)
Balance as at 31 December R+ZA=+—BW4Ee 155,320 189,216

B1EEFSIAMMEBILFHHHEALD -

bl

The notes on pages 61 to 83 form part of these financial statements.
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Distribution Statement

7k 3R

For the year ended 31 December 2011 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

BE-Z——F+-_A=t—HLEEZGFSZHER - WETIIR)

57

2011 2010
B A —-zF
$000 $000
F T

(Loss)/profit for the year, before transactions HESBENIFBEAR SRR

with Unitholders A (B518) /S5 A (33,896) 68,775
Adjustments: FE
Non-cash exchange differences realised FREEHENBAR

upon disposal of subsidiaries MERNELZE — (193,439)
Non-cash finance costs RS BB R AR — 10,395
Non-cash net exchange gains RS N N F R — (672)
Total Adjustments R EEE — (183,716)
Loss after adjustments for the year, HESBENIFBEARSAIN

before transactions with Unitholders PR ERE (33,896) (114,941)
Annual distributable income FEHIREA — —
Total distributions: PIRAEEE -
Interim distribution, paid B RS IR
— other distribution (note (ii)) — B 53R (i) — 1,903,060
Final distribution, to be paid to Unitholders B FRESEM

BB ANRBDIR — —

Total distributions DIRAAEE — 1,903,060
Percentage of annual distribution (note (iii)) FEHIKE D (HEEI) N/ATEHA N/A 3 A
Distribution per Unit BEESENSIK

(in Hong Kong dollar): (LB TIR) :
— Interim distribution per Unit, —BNEEESBEL

paid (note (ii) AR HEA DR (BRREG) $— $4.10
— Final distribution per Unit, to be paid —EEZNTESBAUBEEAD

to Unitholders FEESBEMNARBED IR $— $—
Total distribution per Unit BEESBENMNDIRETE $— $4.10

The notes on pages 61 to 83 form part of these financial statements.

FO1EEESIAMMTEB I S B RKR LS -
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Distribution Statement
PIRKR

Notes:

(i)

(ii)

Pursuant to the Trust Deed, RREEF CCT is required to ensure that the total
amounts distributed or distributable to Unitholders shall be not less than 90% of
its annual distributable income for each financial year. The policy of the Manager
is to distribute to Unitholders at least 90% of RREEF CCT's annual distributable
income for each financial year.

The Manager also has the discretion to distribute additional amounts if and to the
extent the Trust has funds available, in the opinion of the Manager.

Other distribution of $1,903,060,000 ($4.10 per unit) comprised sales proceeds
from the Disposal and available cash resources of RREEF CCT as announced on
15 April 2010 and was paid to Unitholders on 11 May 2010 whose names appear
on the register of Unitholders on 23 April 2010.

Percentage of annual distribution is calculated by dividing the total distribution for
the year by the annual distributable income for the year. This is not applicable to
the year 2011 as RREEF CCT sustained a loss of $33,896,000 for the year after
adjustments, for the purpose of note (i) above.

The notes on pages 61 to 83 form part of these financial statements.

fi i

(i)

(i)

(iii)

RIBEEFERY  EEFMEELARR  NEE
MBEFEEDIRLA DK TESELFHFEANTE
BETFIRNEZFEADREANES ZN
T REBANBEE  REBEVRFESAESD
BUBAEANKEEFHEESNFE D IKK
AELBHZNT -

EEBARAGEREENBBESHBERT » T
ABEDIREINFA

R-ZT—ZTFNA+AHEEEH1,903,060,0007T
(BESEMLI0T) MEMD RBEFEHENHEE
SR EREERNEESNA AR SHE -
YER-ZT—ZTFRA+—HINF_ZT—ZTF
MAZ+=A&INESENBAARR LEHE
SEMUFAA -

FENREDHIRFEDRBRERUFEDIRIK
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RREEF China Commercial Trust
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Cash Flow Statement

BERER

For the year ended 31 December 2011 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

BE-Z——F+_A=t—HALEZGESZHEHRA - WETIIR)
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Note 2011 2010
s B S -z
$000 $/000
Fr T
Operating activities KT
(Loss)/profit before taxation RETRIE R EE S BN
and transactions with Unitholders BEARZZHIH
(&18) & F (33,896) 74,380
Adjustments for: FIE
— Interest income from bank deposits —HRITIF A B WA (645) (1,124)
- Exchange differences realised —RHENBARRER
upon disposal of subsidiaries KON =58 — (193,439)
— Loss on disposal of subsidiaries —HENBAREE — 123,747
— Finance costs —RVE AR — 19,048
Operating (loss)/ profit before HEESEHAMN
changes in working capital " (R RAl (34,541) 22,612
Decrease/(increase) in trade and JFEE M2 B R e EL A P L
other receivables FIEHYR A (G H0) 13 (5,904)
Increase in rent receipts in advance FEURAR 2 HIIE N — 5,188
Increase/(decrease) in other E b ERTRIE R
payables and accruals FERHE AL, CRd) 24,794 (3,618)
Increase in tenants’ deposits i Ek = op Yl — 2,659
Cash (used in)/generated &ER(R)
from operations BHRe (9,734) 20,937
Tax paid BRHIE
— PRC withholding tax paid — BN REEERE — (6,767)
Net cash (used in)/generated TSR () 1B
from operating activities RHETE (9,734) 14,170

The notes on pages 61 to 83 form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
FERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2011 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
HEZZ-—ZF+-A=+—HLLFE BRIZHEHA - LWETIITR)

Note 2011 2010
fisE S -z
000 $000
Fir Fit
Investing activities RETH
Additions to investment property REREMZE — (4,023)
Interest received from bank deposits U ER SR 717 3 F B 645 1,360
Transaction cost paid BENXSER — (76,575)
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries BT B A Rl FTIS R — 1,797,479
Net cash generated RETEME
from investing activities SR 645 1,718,241
Financing activities mEEE
Distributions paid B2 — (1,971,060)
Interest paid on bank borrowings ERITIEERE — (8,704)
Net cash used in financing activities REEEAMARSFE — (1,979,764)
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents | BE&REESZEYRD (9,089) (247,353)
Cash and cash equivalents R—A—B®
at 1 January ReRBELSLEEY 215,534 462,887
Cash and cash equivalents R+=-—A=+—HHERE
at 31 December RESZEY 9 206,445 215,534

The notes on pages 61 to 83 form part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B 5 R R B

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BRBHER - LETIIR)

1 General

RREEF China Commercial Trust (“RREEF CCT" or the “Trust”) is a
Hong Kong collective investment scheme constituted as a unit trust by
a trust deed (the “Trust Deed”) entered into between RREEF China
REIT Management Limited, as the manager of RREEF CCT (the
“Manager”), and HSBC Institutional Trust Services (Asia) Limited, as
the trustee of RREEF CCT (the "Trustee"”) on 28 May 2007 and is
authorised under section 104 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance.
Units of RREEF CCT were listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “SEHK") on 22 June 2007.

RREEF CCT is in the process of termination and liquidation, details of
which are set out in the relevant announcements of RREEF CCT and
note 2(b) to the financial statements.

The Manager's registered office is located at Level 52, International
Commerce Center, 1 Austin Road West, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

These audited financial statements forming part of the annual report,
were authorised for issuance on 23 March 2012.

2 Significant accounting policies

(a) Statement of compliance
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs"), which collective term includes all applicable
individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs") and Interpretations issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA"), and accounting principles generally accepted in Hong
Kong. These financial statements also comply with the applicable
disclosure provisions of the Code on Real Estate Investment
Trusts (the “REIT Code"”) issued by the Securities and Futures
Commission (the “SFC") and the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the SEHK. A summary of the significant accounting
policies adopted by RREEF CCT is set out below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that are
first effective for the current accounting period of RREEF CCT.
These new and revised HKFRSs have no significant impact on the
financial statements of RREEF CCT for the year ended 31
December 2011. RREEF CCT has not applied any new standard,
amendment or interpretation that is not yet effective for the
current accounting period (note 18).
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2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(b)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements
The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial
statements is the historical cost basis.

Pursuant to the sale and purchase agreement dated 3 February
2010, (“the Agreement”), on 12 April 2010, RREEF CCT sold the
Gateway Plaza, the investment property, through the disposal to
Mapletree India China Fund Ltd of the entire issued ordinary share
capital of Beijing Gateway Plaza (BVI) Limited (“BVI Gateway")
(the “Disposal”), which holds the entire issued ordinary share
capital of a property holding company, HK Gateway Plaza
Company Limited (“HK SPV"). As a result, BVI Gateway and its
subsidiaries (“the Disposal Group”) were deconsolidated from the
Trust as at 12 April 2010, and the revenue and related expenses
of the Disposal Group for the period from 1 January 2010 to 12
April 2010 were included in the Trust's annual report for the year
ended 31 December 2010.

Subsequent to the Disposal, RREEF CCT had no real estate
assets to fulfill the criteria for operating as a REIT and accordingly
RREEF CCT was to be terminated, delisted from trading on the
SEHK and liquidated in accordance with the REIT Code. The
Original Estimated Timetable for the Proposed Liquidation, the
Proposed Delisting and the Proposed Deauthorisation of RREEF
CCT as disclosed in the interim financial report for the period
ended 30 June 2010 and 2010 annual financial statements has
been delayed following (1) a notice published by the Trustee
pursuant to section 29 of the Trustee Ordinance, and (2) the court
application by the Trustee (the “Court Application”).

Under the Court Application, the Trustee sought the court's
direction including whether it may proceed with a distribution of
the entirety of the net assets of RREEF CCT without retention
(subject to deduction of relevant costs) to meet any possible
claim which might otherwise be made by the Vendor (see note
11). On 31 May 2011, the Court Application was heard at the High
Court of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (the “High
Court"”). The judgment was issued on 30 June 2011 (the
“Judgment”). In the Judgment, the High Court granted the
Trustee the declaration sought to proceed with a distribution of
the entirety of the net assets of RREEF CCT without any retention
to meet any possible claim by Mr Tin Lik.
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2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(b)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements (continued)
On 13 July 2011, Mr Tin Lik lodged an appeal against the
Judgment at the High Court (the “Appeal”) on certain procedural
grounds, including but not limited to the alleged fact that he did
not receive proper notice of the court hearing for the Court
Application held on 31 May 2011 and that the High Court judge
refused to postpone the handing down of the Judgment to hear
an inter-parties summons filed by Mr Tin Lik on 29 June 2011.

On 22 July 2011, the representatives of the Manager, the Trustee
and Mr Tin Lik attended an appointment before the listing officer
of Civil Appeal, and pursuant to the Court’s directions dated 29
July 2011 the Appeal was set down for hearing at the Court of
Appeal of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (the
“Court of Appeal”) on 23 November 2011.

On 23 November 2011, the Appeal was heard at the Court of
Appeal. The judgment of the Appeal was handed down on 21
December 2011. In the judgment of the Appeal, the Court of
Appeal has dismissed the Appeal. Accordingly the declaration
granted by the High Court in the Judgment, namely that the
Trustee should proceed with a distribution of the entirety of the
net assets of RREEF CCT without any retention to meet any
possible claim by Mr Tin Lik, has been upheld.

As no application for leave to appeal to the Court of Final Appeal
of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region was filed by Mr
Tin Lik by 18 January 2012, being the end of the appeal period for
the Appeal, the appeal period for the Appeal has lapsed.

The Manager and the Trustee have now reached agreement to
take steps to proceed with the final distribution by RREEF CCT to
the Unitholders, the Proposed Liquidation, the Proposed Delisting
and the Proposed Deauthorisation as soon as practicable in
accordance with applicable regulatory requirements. The Manager
currently anticipates that the final distribution by RREEF CCT to
the Unitholders will be made on or before 12 May 2012.

Separately, on 5 July 2011, Mr Tin Lik issued a writ of summons
in the High Court as plaintiff against Deutsche Bank (“DB") as
first defendant, the Manager as second defendant and the
Trustee as third defendant.
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2 FEEHHE®
(b) BFH53R 3% 0 45 BB ()

2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements (continued)

Pursuant to the Writ, Mr Tin Lik makes certain claims (the
“Claims") (note 10(ii)), including amongst others:

1. against DB, the Manager and Trustee, jointly and severally,
challenging the amount under the set-off (note 11) and
claiming, amongst other things, an entitlement to the Initial
Retention Amount under the sale and purchase agreement
dated 4 June 2007 and an amount of $289,426,166 which
Mr Tin Lik claims to be refundable by the Trustee and/or the
Manager; and

2. against DB and the Manager, jointly and severally for
damages on certain matters as announced by the Manager
on 7 July 2011.

The opinion of the Board and the Trustee, on the basis of legal
advice, is that the Claims are wholly without merit and will be
vigorously defended by DB, the Manager and the Trustee.

RREEF CCT is no longer considered by the Manager to be a
going concern. Accordingly, assets are valued at their estimated
realisable amounts and liabilities are stated at their estimated

settlement amounts, and provision for termination and liquidation

costs has been made as at 31 December 2011.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the application of policies and
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and various other factors that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which
form the basis of making the judgements about carrying values
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision

affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future

periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Major sources of estimation uncertainty are discussed in note 16.
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2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(c)

(d)

Other receivables

Other receivables are initially recognised at fair value and
thereafter stated at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, less allowance for impairment of doubtful debts, except
where the receivables are interest-free loans made to related
parties without any fixed repayment terms or the effect of
discounting would be immaterial. In such cases, the receivables
are stated at cost less allowance for impairment of doubtful
debts.

Impairment losses for bad and doubtful debts are recognised
when there is objective evidence of impairment and are
measured as the difference between the carrying amount of the
financial asset and the present value of estimated future cash
flows, discounted at the asset's original effective interest rate
where the effect of discounting is material. Objective evidence of
impairment includes observable data that comes to the attention
of the Trust about events that have an impact on the asset’s
estimated future cash flows such as significant financial difficulty
of the debtor.

Impairment losses for other receivables whose recovery is
considered doubtful but not remote are recorded using an
allowance account. When the Trust is satisfied that recovery is
remote, the amount considered irrecoverable is written off
against other receivables directly and any amounts held in the
allowance account relating to that debt are reversed. Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously charged to the allowance
account are reversed against the allowance account. Other
changes in the allowance account and subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off directly are recognised in profit or
loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and
short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within three
months of maturity at acquisition.
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2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(e)

(f)

(g)

Unitholders’ funds

In accordance with the Trust Deed, RREEF CCT has a limited life
of 80 years less 1 day from the date of commencement of RREEF
CCT, and RREEF CCT is required to distribute to Unitholders not
less than 90 per cent of its annual distributable income for each
financial year. Accordingly, the units contain contractual
obligations to pay cash dividends and also, upon the termination
of RREEF CCT, a share of all net cash proceeds derived from the
sale or realisation of the assets of RREEF CCT less any liabilities,
in accordance with their proportionate interests in RREEF CCT at
the date of its termination. The Unitholders’ funds are therefore
classified as financial liabilities in accordance with HKAS 32,
Financial Instruments: Presentation.

Other payables

Other payables are initially recognised at fair value and thereafter
stated at amortised cost unless the effect of discounting would
be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements in
deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current tax and movements in
deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss
except to the extent that they relate to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the
relevant amounts of tax are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for
the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the
end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax payable in
respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and
taxable temporary differences respectively, being the differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and their tax bases. Deferred tax assets also
arise from unused tax losses and unused tax credits.

Apart from differences which arise on initial recognition of assets
and liabilities, all deferred tax liabilities, and all deferred tax assets
to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be
available against which the asset can be utilised, are recognised.
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2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(g)

(h)

(i)

Income tax (continued)

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based on the
expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying
amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period. Deferred
tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Trust has a legal or constructive obligation
arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a
reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value of money is
material, provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will
be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable. Provided it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Trust and the revenue and costs, if
applicable, can be measured reliably, revenue is recognised in
profit or loss as follows:

(i)  Property rental income from operating leases
Property rental income receivable under operating leases is
recognised in profit or loss in equal installments over the
periods covered by the lease term, except where an
alternative basis is more representative of the pattern of
benefits to be derived from the use of the leased asset.
Lease incentives granted are recognised in profit or loss as
an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments
receivable. Contingent rentals are recognised as income in
the accounting period in which they are earned. Property
rental income is stated after deduction of business tax.

(i) Car park rental income
Car park rental income is recognised as the underlying
services are rendered. Car park rental income is recognised
net of business tax.

(i) Advertising rental income
Advertising rental income is recognised as the underlying
services are rendered. Advertising rental income is
recognised net of business tax.
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2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(i

1]

(k)

U]

Revenue recognition (continued)

(iv) Interest income
Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the
effective interest method.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of an asset which necessarily takes a
substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale
are capitalised as part of these asset. Other borrowing costs are
expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated at the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the
reporting period. Exchange gains and losses are recognised in
profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. Non-
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
that are stated at fair value are translated using the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value was determined.

The results of foreign operations are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the exchange rates approximating the foreign exchange
rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Balance sheet items
are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the closing foreign
exchange rates at the end of the reporting period. The resulting
exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated separately in a separate component of
net assets attributable to Unitholders.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount of the
exchange differences relating to that foreign operation is
reclassified to profit or loss when the profit or loss on disposal is
recognised.

Related parties
(a) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is
related to the Trust if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Trust;
(i) has significant influence over the Trust; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Trust.
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2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Trust if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)  The entity and the Trust are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and
fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate of joint venture of a member of a
group of which the other entity is a member).

(iii) Both entities are joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of an entity related to the Trust.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a) (i) has significant influence over
the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by,
that person in their dealings with the entity.
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2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(m) Segment reporting
Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements, are identified from the
financial information provided regularly to the Trust's most senior
executive management for the purposes of allocating resources
to, and assessing the performance of, the Trust's various lines of
businesses and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature
of products and services, the nature of production processes, the
type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the
products or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not individually
material may be aggregated if they share a majority of these
criteria.

3 Turnover

The principal activity of RREEF CCT was property investment in the
People’s Republic of China (“PRC") until the Disposal, it does not carry
out any operation since then.

Turnover represented property rental income and car park rental
income net of business tax.

2 FESHEER@®
(m) 9 &
ERATHRERT AL S SHES
& B E b R T S B E A E
RS - TEHAEERSRT
BEREIREMBER « R BR
R AR B SRR RE MG
DEHNE—HHARNSE -

ERMEBRERNEED AT EE
TR ER TFIVER - RIFEL DA
BERENRERE MEEERN
REUE - EERERUEE  BFPHE
AR - D HERIRHRSE
BITEA R BEERIFHMEE RS -
WRER T WIEBNERNEED
EBHEA LA _EKER D R RIRT BEEABAK —
DEBIIIR e

3 EXE

BERHEEENIZEREAEZHENR
R EARKME ([FE])ETHER
A FEFHEESARERIEEMZE
7 o

BEREEDEHESRAREESHS KA
(FOBR & EM) -

2011 2010
S —z-2f

000 $000

Fr Fr

Property rental income WERSUA — 51,578
Car park rental income FEBHESIKA — 1,581
— 53,159

4 Property operating expenses

4 YFREEMX

2011 2010

e —z-2f

$000 $000

Fr F

Real estate tax B ER — 5,038

Impairment loss on rental receivables AR — 226
Commission refunded from HEREMRSH

leasing agents IR — (152)

Property management fee YEERE — 152

Land use tax T AT — 136

Others b — 842

— 6,242
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5 (Loss)/profit before taxation and transactions with
Unitholders

(Loss)/profit before taxation and transactions with Unitholders is

arrived at after charging/(crediting):
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5 KRetREREESBNFHEAX
SR (B8 ER
KatBUER RS BRI A AR S A0 (B
18) BRI A) THIEE :

2011 2010
—B——F —T—TF
000 $000
Fx ¥

(a) Finance costs: (a) REEMRA :
Interest on bank borrowings RITIEEFE — 5,153
Other borrowing costs (note (i)) HAEBERA FHFEI) - 13,895
— 19,048

(b) Other items: (o) HMIER :
Manager's fees EBAEA 845 6,894

Other legal and professional fees HixEkEEE A W)

(note (i) 31,475 12,143
Trustee's fees ZiEAEHA 603 955
Auditor's remuneration ZEETEN
— audit services — BB 1,000 1,260
— other services — H R — 4,475
Bank charges RITEA 1 19
Rental receivable from investment REYERKES

property less direct outgoings of BEEAXZET

$ Nil (2010: $6,242,000) (ZZ=—Z4 : 6,242,0007T) — (46,917)

(i)

Included in other borrowing costs for the year ended 31

December 2010 was an unamortised balance of up-front fee of

$10,395,000 realised upon repayment of bank loan during the

year ended 31 December 2010.

Included in other legal and professional fees for the year ended 31

December 2011 was a legal cost provision of $30,500,000 in

relation to the Appeal and the Claims.

RREEF CCT did not appoint any director nor did it enter into any

employment contracts with counterparties during the years ended 31
December 2011 and 31 December 2010.

() RE-F-—FE+-A=+-AL%
EREERAARERBE_F—F
FroASt-ALEEREEEH
ECEENEELES BEE
10,395,0007T °

(i) HZEREXERAPEREZE-Z
——F+ A=+ BULFEHEY
BEREFRRREELEZEEREE
#930,500,0007T °

HE_ZT——F+_-_A=+—RHIEFER
—E-TFE+_R=+—HILFEHMH
BEFHWEERSHEZEEAES ML
BB RISLEMAH -
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mEMBRHE

6 Income tax

(a)

(b)

Income tax in the income statement represents:

6 FiE®
(a) Meak& M FRIERES -

201 2010
—2-—F —TTF
000 $/000
T F

Current tax AEAB IR
PRC withholding tax (note (ii)) fR B TESORTS R (BT (i) — 5,602
PRC corporate income tax (note (iii)) | A EI{EZEATS R (B REGI) — 3
—_ 5,605

(i) No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as

RREEF CCT did not earn any income assessable to Hong
Kong Profits Tax during the year.

(i)  The PRC withholding tax is calculated at 10% of the gross
rental income, on a deemed profit basis.

(iii)  The PRC corporate income tax is calculated at 25% of the
taxable profit of the relevant entity.

Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting (loss)/profit at
applicable tax rates:

(ii)

(iii)

(o) A1

HREEFMEE SRR &

BRERAE 0] & B R 15 T sk IR
A B I B A R RS AR R
1 -

B TEH0 PR AS 75 PARR 1 e I B
ERESBALENAD Z T5T

st
= o
It

hEMEMASHIRIBEERE
RPAFOB D Z T HHE -

X HMIZER R X HE gt

(B18) amFE R -

2011 2010

—2-—F —TTF

$000 $/000

Fir F

(Loss)/profit before taxation BRIEAT (B518) 5 (33,896) 74,380

Notional tax on (loss)/profit before RERAREANHE

taxation calculated RIBRFLAT (B518) s

at applicable tax rates SOEE- S el (5,593) 7,438

Tax effect of non-taxable income RRBRAR T2 (106) (7,121)

Tax effect of non-deductible expenses| A~AIHIJE 5T Sz BV FR 1§ 52 £ 5,699 5,288

Actual tax expense for the year FEERBIESH — 5,605
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7 (Loss)/earnings per unit before transactions with 7 HESBENEEAXRZANEE
Unitholders HEE BN (F5E) 55

The loss per unit before transactions with Unitholders for the year
ended 31 December 2011 amounted to $0.073 (earnings per unit for
the year 2010: $0.148). The calculation of basic (loss)/earnings per unit
before transactions with Unitholders is based on the RREEF CCT's loss
for the year before transactions with Unitholders of $33,896,000
(Earnings for the year 2010: $68,775,000) and the weighted average
number of 464,161,000 (2010: 464,161,000) units in issue during the
year.

As there were no potential dilutive units in issue during the current and
prior years, diluted (loss)/earnings per unit is the same as the basic
(loss)/earnings per unit.

Segment reporting

RREEF CCT managed its business by divisions. Up to the Disposal,
RREEF CCT's operations were primarily located and carried out in the
PRC and the principal activity of RREEF CCT was property investment.

In accordance with HKFRS 8, segment information disclosed in the
annual financial statements has been prepared in a manner consistent
with the information used by RREEF CCT's senior executive
management for the purpose of assessing segment performance and
allocating resources between segments. In this regard, RREEF CCT's
senior executive management monitors the results, assets and
liabilities attributable to each reportable segment on the following
bases:

(a) Segment revenue and results
Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable segments
with reference to income generated and expenses incurred by
those segments.

The measure used for reporting segment performance is the
profit or loss for the year of the respective segment.

In addition to receiving segment information concerning segment
results, management is provided with segment information
managed directly by the segments on revenue, interest income
and expenses on cash balances and borrowings, net exchange
difference and income tax expense.

HE-_Z——F+_A=t+—HItEEHR
ESBEUBBEARSHINEEESSBNE
AEEA0.073T (BE=ZZ—ZF+=A
=+ —BILEFESEESBMETA0.148
o) c MESBNBEEARSHNEEES
BAER(BR) CRFDBEESREME
ESHRNEESENIFTE AR SRINER
433,896,000 (BE=-T—ZTF+=-A=
+— B IEFE /% T A68,775,0007T) K& Hf
MR DIAE 19 2464,161,000 HE T —
TFE+ A=+ -8B ILFEBE
464,161,000) AR BHITESBEMNETHE

HRAHERBERESEES B (B
B),aR T EEEEE  RUE2NEE
HeB g (B8 afl

7RI E
BERNEEDABSBERLS - HE
HER - BERHEEROEHEBR S
BitiT BERHEERNEIEEBAY
ESTR

RIEE TR £RIFeS - BUMHH
EFRBSBANNSR  REEBEE
EESERORERABRTHESBEE
RARSBEERMEAOEN K - &
ERNWEESBRTRERA AR
TEEEEEARROBEERE  AE
RAME

(a) o #BUrz KA
W Rk T2 E %S D B R
AREENHAS D EERARBE -

=

BB RARANENTERBH

DR AEE -

BERBEMS BEAARS - FRE
ISR B 25 E 2 R M2t
R EBRIOFIBMA 5 RF 8
% EREBFARFARBLOD
BEK -
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8 Segment reporting (continued)

Segment revenue and results (continued)

Property investment

8 EEE wm
(a) PEBKFEREE @

in the PRC Head office Total
RABENNERE o my
2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
-g--% -T-TF =%--§ -T-TF =%-—§ "T-IF
$'000 $/000 000 $'000 000 $'000
Fr T Fr Fir Fr Fi
Segment revenue N 6t - 53,159 - — - 53,159
Segment results DEEE — 46,917 (34,541) | (24,977) | (34,541) 21,940
Interest income from RITHEHR
bank deposits FBUA - 735 645 389 645 1,124
Net exchange gains EREEEE - 672 - — - 672
Finance costs RERA — (19,048) — — — (19,048)
— 29,276 (33,896) (24,588) (33,896) 4,688
Loss on disposal HENBAREE
of subsidiaries — — — (123,747) — (123,747)
Exchange differences RHEHBARMER
realised upon disposal BlE N ERE
of subsidiaries — — — 193,439 — 193,439
(Loss)/profit before taxation | RatH1E & FRES
and transactions BB ARSI
with Unitholders & (8518) /& H — 29,276 (33,896) | 45,104 (33,896) | 74,380
Income tax FTiS#t — (5,605) — — — (5,605)
(Loss)/profit for the year, | EESBEMIFAA
before transactions R ZRIEA
with Unitholders (&518) /& F — 23,671 (33,896) | 45,104 (33,896) | 68,775
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8 Segment reporting (continued)

(b) Segment assets and liabilities
Segment assets included other receivables and cash and cash
equivalents. Segment liabilities managed directly by the segments
include other payables and accruals.

Property investment
in the PRC
RAENNERE
31 December 31 December
2011 2010
—g-—F -T-TF

2011 Annual Report
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8 ZEPHME @

(b) FBEEREE
DEEERTFEEMERZERES R
HeZ@EY - THVEABTENH S
AEAEEMENRERERER -

Head office Total

#aE mE
31 December 31 December 31 December 371 December
2011 2010 2011 2010

—g--§ -T-F c—¥—-%F "T-T%

t+tZA=+-B t-A=+—-8 tZA=+-B t—A=1t—-8 tZA=+-8B t-A=+—H

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Fr Fr Fr Fr Fr Fr

Segment assets DEEE — — | 206,456 | 215558 | 206,456 | 215558
Additions to non-current | FAIEREI DT

segment assets BRI

during the year — 13,022 — — — 13,022

Segment liabilities HEEE — — 51,136 26,342 51,136 26,342

Net assets attributable HeBRBBA 155,320 189,216
to Unitholders BILEEFE

During the current and prior years, there were no inter-segment
revenue, profit or loss, assets and liabilities.

MAFEMBEFE  HEEADH
Mrls BN kR BERA

=
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FREMBRME
9 Cash and cash equivalents 9 RERBEESEEY
2011 2010
e e
000 $000
Fr Tt
Deposits with banks RITEEFER 190,000 190,000
Cash at bank and in hand BITFR KBS 16,445 25,534
206,445 215,534
10 Other payables and accruals 10 HittEERFERFARER
2011 2010
S 325
000 $000
Fr Tt
Termination and liquidation costs (note (i) | #21ER&E#E A (FIFEI) 371 3,618
Other legal costs provision (noteii)) EAth AR B FEHE (B REG) 33,539 8,000
Other payables and E A R RIE R
accruals (note (iii) TEIRE R (L) 2,848 2,771
Manager's fees payable ENEBASER
(note 15(c)(iv)) (F5E15(c)(iv) 138 1,053
40,236 15,442
(i)  The amount represents the estimated termination and liquidation () ZREAEEERMEESHRIENRE

expenses of RREEF CCT. The final liability could vary from the BAEHER - RRERAF LERE
amount provided, and is dependent on the progress of the GFEE WERRERESZ  BUBE
Proposed liquidation, the Proposed Delisting and the Proposed M EERECEEEEZNEEM

deauthorisation (note 16(ii)). 7] o (MIsE16(i)

(i) Other legal costs provision represents estimated legal costs in (i) RIR{E LR A R 88 B R R B A 12
relation to the Appeal and the Claims under relevant provisions of ERBEABHR LFRRENMGIE
the Trust Deed. The final liability could vary from the amount BER mRERAIREREFE
provided and is dependent on the progress of the Claims (note 2 WERRREMREE ma] (HaE

16(iii)).

Below are the details of the legal cost provision:

16(ii)) ©

TRz ERRENFS

31 December 30 June
2011 2011
e .
+=BA=+—8 NA=+H
000 $/000
Fr Tt
(Audited) (Unaudited)
Manager's legal counsel, Clifford Chance | B2 AARERM — o @4 EMESHT 13,124 15,500
Trustee's legal counsel, Linklaters EREANEEER - FREEMEBM 20,415 7,500
33,539 23,000
(i) Other payables and accruals are due within one month or on (i) AEEMENFERBRERSN —

83 AE Es e 2k B - BT
—FRNEE EMENKERERS
B IEFE =5 AFIE300,0007T (=
Z—TFE+-"H=+—H 101,000
JT) °

demand, and are expected to be settled within one year. Included
in other payables and accruals is an amount due to Trustee of
$300,000 (31 December 2010: $101,000).
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Amount due to the Vendor 11 BRHERRIE
2011 2010
—EB——F —E-TF
000 $000
Fr Tt
Retention of proceeds on acquisition WEBFTS FTEIRE & 156,000 156,000
Balance of initial unpaid consideration BIRRARESS 114,955 114,955
Retention of the Vendor's unit distribution | BT ES B D IKIFE S 16,542 16,642
Amounts set-off I FIE (276,597) (276,597)
10,900 10,900

12

13

In the year ended 31 December 2011, the Manager, on the basis of
legal advice, has maintained its rights of set-off against the amount
due to the Vendor to compensate the Trust's losses and/or additional
expenses incurred.

This balance of $10,900,000 as at 31 December 2011 represents the
Manager’s present and provisional calculation of the amount payable to
the Vendor. This is a non-binding indication which remains subject to
subsequent developments (see notes 2(b) and 16(i)).

The Manager had notified the Vendor in advance of the set-offs being
exercised. In the Appeal and the Claims, the Vendor stated that he
disputes the set-offs. The Appeal has been dismissed and the Claims
are currently ongoing as outlined in note 2(b). Based on the legal
advice received, the Manager remains of the view that those set-offs
are appropriate and legitimate as at 31 December 2011.

Units in issue

There was no repurchase, sale or redemption of RREEF CCT units and
no new units were issued for year ended 31 December 2011 and 2010
respectively. The total number of units in issue was 464,161,000 as at
31 December 2011 and 31 December 2010.

Capital management

RREEF CCT is in the process of termination and liquidation, details of
which are set out in note 2(b) to the financial statements.

The bank loan was fully repaid on 12 April 2010 and therefore as at 31
December 2011 and 31 December 2010, RREEF CCT's gearing ratio
was zero.

12

13

BE_T——F+-_A=-+—HLEFE"
BEEAGRSERZBERLR  BREEKE
RERI AR S4B 19 B 05 500R - DAFRIEEREM
BERSREENEIIAS -

R—ZZE——F+-_A=+—BH&E
10,900,000 CHEEE AT AT REL & A K
BEEHORERERAE - WARTER
BRMENTNELRNES (RHE20) &
16(i) -

ERADHREMEEIMITERAESE - 1
EHRRRE BABELEHEHRELR
# e LRERBEMREDEETED
FER2HIE20) - REFAEEHEERE
B -BBADARER 2-F——F+=

A=+—Hit  ZSEHALEREE -
ERTESEN

HE-_ZT——F+-_A=+—HLEFER
ZE-ZFA+-A=+—RHLFE  TE
R HESEEANEEREESE
EWMBEITHESEN - R T ——F
+TZA=t+—HBRZZE—ZEF+-/A=+
—HRBEBITESBEMNEEA464,161,000
1& -

E4E®E
EEREHMAERSBIETRIERESE
B BB EBLMHRNERERE20) -

RITERR _Z-—ZFWNA+-HEEH
BE AR -_FT——F+-A=+—H
RZE-—ZF+_R=+—HEERUE
EEMEEARBLERRE -
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14 Financial risk management and fair values

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks arises in
the normal course of RREEF CCT's business. RREEF CCT's financial
risk management policies and practices in managing these risks are
described below.

(a)

(b)

Credit risk
Matters relating specifically to the Vendor are referred to in note
11 to the financial statements.

All the Trust's cash and cash equivalents are deposited with
financial institutions in Hong Kong that are of sound credit
standing.

At the end of the reporting period, the Trust does not hold any
other assets which are exposed to significant credit risk.

Liquidity risk

RREEF CCT's policy is to regularly monitor current and expected
liquidity requirements, to ensure that it maintains sufficient
reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the short
and longer term.

14 SREREERAAEE

BE
.
& B R B

FHEESREREBRBEPAZE
RBEL  MEXREERR - REE
CREFHMEESRABER

EHEAINT

(a)

FERR
HRIEMENNEELZ LM BERED
BEEETT ©

MEGRNASIESEEMERFA
BERFEENTESRBEN -

R|ERR - ERLEEASEER
BEE °

RBESER
EERHWEECHHREETHERR
B RIEARDESFTR - UREREEHE
FABESRHE  AENHEHRE
HEORBESFKX



RREEF China Commercial Trust
BETEREEHEREERES

14 Financial risk management and fair values (continued)
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14 SREMREERAAEBE®

(b) Liquidity risk (continued) (b) REESER (@)
The following table details the remaining contractual maturities at TREJNEEFHEECEMAEN
the end of the reporting period of RREEF CCT's financial liabilities, WMEMKRFANEOINEE - Ferd
which are based on contractual undiscounted cash flows PDEEE DR ORGERF S RE (B
(including interest payments computed using contractual rates or, EIRAHEF Ek (W)F8) RS H
if floating, based on prevailing rates at the end of the reporting REAOFEFEOF ST URE
period) and the earliest date RREEF CCT is expected to pay: EEMEESBAMN R &F BB
=
201
-85
More than More than
Total Within 1 year 2 years
contractual 1year but less but less
undiscounted oron than than More
Carrying cash flow demand 2 years 5 years than
amount BRRER 15K 1E0E 260k 5 years
REE BRERELE HRER 2F LR LESP S5FEL L
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Fr Fr Fr Fr Fr Fr
Other payables H A eI RIE
and accruals RIERER 40,236 40,236 40,236 — — —
Amount due to the Vendor | JEfTE 5 ZUA 10,900 10,900 10,900 - - -
51,136 51,136 51,136 — — —
2010
—ZE-BF
More than More than
Total Within 1 year 2 years
contractual 1 year but less but less
undiscounted oron than than More
Carrying cash flow demand 2 years 5 years than
amount BHREE 15 R 1F 5 E 26 F 5 years
REE HRERERT HIREK 2F AR 5EMAR 5EMNLE
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $/000
T T Fr Fr Fr Fr
Other payables H A eI RIE
and accruals RIERER 15,442 15,442 15,442 — — —
Amount due to the Vendor | JEfTE 5 ZUA 10,900 10,900 10,900 — — —
26,342 26,342 26,342 — — —
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14 Financial risk management and fair values (continued)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Interest rate risk

RREEF CCT is exposed to interest rate risk primarily through its
cash and deposit balances. RREEF CCT has not used any
derivative financial instruments to manage the interest rate risk
during the current and prior years and the Manager is of the
opinion that current exposure to interest rate risk is within an
acceptable range.

As at 31 December 2011, RREEF CCT does not hold any assets
and/or liabilities which would expose RREEF CCT to significant
interest rate risk.

Currency risk

As at 31 December 2011, RREEF CCT is not exposed to currency
risk as all of RREEF CCT's assets and liabilities are denominated
in Hong Kong Dollars.

Estimation of fair value

All financial instruments are carried at amounts not materially
different from their fair value as at 31 December 2011 and 31
December 2010.

14 SREMREERAAEBE@®

(c)

(d)

(e)

R 2= @

EEFHERS T ERMBHBRR
& REFRERTAENXRERRE - BRA
FERBEFE BEFRMEESY
BEREMATESR T AEENEME
- MEEARRRANERRA T

B .

RZZF——%+-A=+t—H &%
FHEESTREBAERNEER X
RERM<SBEEFMERSARE
KA FIRER °

EWER
R-F——F+-_A=+—H &8
FHEESIWRAERNEERR - A
EEFHMERSHENEERAMEY
B TTIIE -

D REMbE
RZB-——F+RA=+—BKZ=%
—ZETFE+-_A=+—H FEERMIT
AEWSEEEEARBEHRREERNE
Rl
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15 Material Related Party Transactions

(a)

During the year, RREEF CCT entered into the following

transactions with certain Connected Persons and / or related

parties under the REIT Code and HKAS 24, Related party
disclosures:
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156 EXBABARS

(a) &R FEFHEESHEETHEBA
TR EM T (RE(GHERERE
AEETAD (BB G EANE -+
PSRRE AL HOREE) ST T AR S ¢

Connected Person/related party Relationship with the Trust
BEAL BBH RIEFENBE
HSBC Institutional Trust Services (Asia) The Trustee of RREEF CCT

Limited (“the Trustee”) AEEHEREESMTITA

ESHIBETRE G ARAR (XA

HSBC Holdings Plc and its associates
and other members of its group
(collectively referred to as "HSBC Group”)
ELERERATREBEATIR
ZEEHMKE AR (GENELEE])

RREEF China REIT Management Limited
EETERERESERARAR

Colliers International (Hong Kong) Limited (" Colliers”)

BHERNEER BFR) ERAR(RAH))

Balances with related parties are as follows:

Connected Persons of the Trustee

REANBEAL

The Manager of RREEF CCT
EERMERENERA

Principal Valuer of RREEF CCT
BERMEESNEEMER

(b) ERRREJ)T Z VR -

2011 2010
e —z-%F
$000 $000
Frx T
Net amount due to: FERTEREFUFRE
— The Trustee —ZFA (300) (101)
— The Manager —EBA (138) (1,053)
Deposits and cash placed with HEERNELSEE
HSBC Group NERERE 1,098 2,091




82

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
RE BRI

15 Material Related Party Transactions (continued)

(c) In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere
in these financial statements, RREEF CCT entered into following

material related party transactions during the year:

15 ERBEBL RS @
BAMBREEMTIBRENIS R

(c)

KEERIN

BEFRMERENFRNIL

THOERBE TS

2011 2010
—B——F —T-TF
$000 $'000
T F
Divestment fee to the EERAMME
Manager (note (ii) & A (B eEGi) — 16,491
Divestment fee to the SZHEANLE
Trustee (note (iii)) A (P (i) - 1,649
Manager's fees (note (iv)) EIEABEMA M) 845 6,894
Trustee's fees (note (v)) SEAEA (W) 603 955
Valuer's fee to Colliers = R BRI & — 75

Notes:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

These transactions were carried out in the ordinary course of
business on normal commercial terms.

Under the Trust Deed, the Manager is entitled to receive a divestment
fee of 0.5% of the sale price of any real estate sold/divested directly
or indirectly by RREEF CCT.

Under the Trust Deed, the Trustee is entitled to receive a divestment
fee of 0.05% of the sale price of any real estate sold/divested directly
or indirectly by RREEF CCT.

The Manager's fees are calculated based on a base fee of 0.4% per
annum on the value of the Deposited Property plus a variable fee of
3% per annum on the Net Property Income as defined in the Trust
Deed.

Under the Trust Deed, the Trustee is entitled to receive a
remuneration of not more than 0.03% per annum on the value of the
Deposited Property as defined in the Trust Deed with a provision for
further increments up to a maximum of 0.06% per annum on the
value of the Deposited Property, subject to a minimum fee of $50,000
per month. Effective from 1 May 2009, the Trustee's fee was
increased to 0.045% per annum.
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Accounting estimates

The key sources of estimation in applying RREEF CCT's accounting
policies are described below.

(i) Amount due to the Vendor
The amount due to the Vendor is the net amount owing to Mr Tin
Lik, the vendor. This amount may be subject to future revisions by
the manager, subject to legal advice.

(ii) Termination and liquidation costs
The final termination and liquidation costs are dependent on the
progress of the Proposed Liquidation, the Proposed Delisting and
the Proposed Deauthorisation. Accordingly, additional legal and
administrative costs may be incurred and charged to
“administrative expenses” in the income statement.

(iii) Other legal costs provision
The final liability could vary from the amount provided and is
dependent on the progress of the Claims. Accordingly, additional
legal costs may be incurred and charged to “administrative
expenses” in the income statement.

Events after the reporting period

Following the dismissal of the Appeal by the Court of Appeal and
pursuant to RREEF CCT’s announcement dated 10 February 2012, the
Manager and the Trustee have reached agreement to take steps to
proceed with the final distribution by RREEF CCT to the Unitholders,
the Proposed Liquidation, the Proposed Delisting and the Proposed
Deauthorisation as soon as practicable in accordance with applicable
regulatory requirements. Additional administrative expenses, which
have not been included in these financial statements, are estimated to
be $4,705,000.

Possible impact of amendments, new standards and
interpretations issued but not yet effective for the
year ended 31 December 2011

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA has
issued a number of amendments and five new standards which are
not yet effective for the year ended 31 December 2011 and which
have not been adopted in these financial statements.

The Manager is in the process of making an assessment of what the
impact of these amendments is expected to be in the period of initial
application. So far it has concluded that the adoption of them is
unlikely to have a significant impact on RREEF CCT's results of
operations and financial position.
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Corporate Information

TERER

The Manager

RREEF China REIT Management Limited
Registered Office:

Level 52 International Commerce Center

1 Austin Road West

Kowloon, Hong Kong

Tel: +852 2203 7872

Fax: +852 2203 7995

Email: enquiry@rreefchinatrust.com
Website: www.rreefchinatrust.com

Board of Directors of the Manager

Chairman and Non-executive Director
Mr. Kurt William ROELOFFS, Junior

Executive Directors
Mr. Paul Thomas KEOGH (Fund Manager)

Mr. Niel THASSIM (Redesignated from a non-Executive Director to an
Executive Director with effect from 19 October 2011)

Mr. So Tak Young (Resigned on 20 October 2011)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Jack Richard RODMAN

Mr. Mark Henry FORD

Dr. MENG Xiaosu

Responsible Officers of the Manager

Mr. Paul Thomas KEOGH
Mr. Niel THASSIM (Appointed on 19 October 2011)
Mr. SO Tak Young (Resigned on 20 October 2011)

Trustee

HSBC Institutional Trust Services (Asia) Limited
1 Queen’'s Road Central,
Hong Kong
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Legal Counsel

Clifford Chance

28/F, Jardine House
1 Connaught Place
Central, Hong Kong

Unit Registrar

Tricor Investor Services Limited
26/F Tesbury Centre

28 Queen'’s Road East

Wanchai, Hong Kong

Company Secretary of the Manager
Ms. HO Wing Tsz Wendy

Auditors of RREEF CCT

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

Stock Code
625

Unitholder Enquiries/Investor Relations

Your feedback is valuable. If you have any queries,
please contact us at:

Investor Relations
RREEF China REIT Management Limited
as the Manager of RREEF China Commercial Trust

Level 52 International Commerce Center
1 Austin Road West

Kowloon, Hong Kong

Tel: +852 2203 7872

Fax: +852 2203 7995

Email: enquiry@rreefchinatrust.com
Website: www.rreefchinatrust.com
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RREEF China REIT Management Limited
Level 62, International Commerce Centre
1 Austin Road West, Kowloon, Hong Kong
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Tel B : +852 2203 7872

Fax E : +852 2203 7995

Email & : enquiry@rreefchinatrust.com

www.rreefchinatrust.com
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